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“... BMC has developed BSWM into a LOCOIVIOTIVE that is now
in a position to PULL the whole IT management software train
of associated monitoring and IT management technologies.”
SWOT Analysis: BMC Software, 2 2007,

Forrester Research, May 2007

“BMC was the only vendor we found that had an integrated
suite of products, a VISION that matched our own, and the

education and professional SERVICES to help us
ACHIEVE a successful IMPLEMENTATION.»

Technology Leader, Global Casmetics Company

“BSM gives us a framework for moving from a reactionary
i to a proactive to a PREDICTIVE approach to Vi 4 CAGING
the | T INFRASTRUCTURE.”

IT Operations Executive, Fortune 50 company

“Business Service Management altows us to MANAGE CRITICAL
‘ services from our CUSTOMER point of view and the Business
\ Service rather than from the perspective of a technology.”

VP Systems Management, Global Credit Card Company

“BSM is helping us ALIG Y our T :2 - NOLOGY
‘ directly with ... BUSINESS goals.”
CIQ, Auto Services Supplier
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In my letter to you four years ago, | wrote that we
had just announced a pivotal new strategy that
would transform our customers, our industry and
our company. We called it Business Service
Management. As we said then, “The groundwork
has been laid for an exciting period in the history
of BMC Software — a period during which the
landscape of cur industry will change, and we will
realize our vision of becoming the world's leading
enterprise management software provider.”

Today, it's clear that our industry has substantially
changed - and it's equally clear that the
transformation in enterprise IT management we
envisioned and led is now a reality for many of the
world's largest |T organizations. Business Service
Management (BSM} has developed and grown in
just a few short years to become a major factor
driving how companies around the globe manage
their IT operations. The reason? BSM improves the
ability to standardize and automate IT processes
and workflows, and to align them with business
goals and priorities - which at the end of the day
means higher quality, greater productivity and
lower costs.

I'm very proud of the widespread recognition that
BMC has achieved as the driving force behind BSM.
Leadership never comes easily and the tough
strategic decisions we've made over the past few
years are clearly yielding results, Qur internal
investments in R&D and product development,
coupled with the acquisitions we've made, give BMC
the broadest, most robust and best integrated suite
of BSM offerings in the industry. The separation of
our two business units — Enterprise Service
Management and Mainframe Service Management
- at the beginning of fiscal 2007 provides sharper
focus and greater accountability. And the operating
and financial discipline we've instilled across our
company makes us a faster, more agile, and more
productive enterprise.

As a result of all of these factors, and with strong
contributions from our employees and our partners,
we generated strong financial results in fiscal 2007,
with improvements across virtually every key
performance metric. Our BSM business grew by 25
percent and now accounts for 40 percent of total
license bookings'. Total bookings' rose 13 percent.
Our non-GAAP operating margin' increased to 22
percent, up from 16 percent in fiscal 2006 and 8
percent in fiscal 2005. Our non-GAAP earnings per

share' grew by 44 percent and on a GAAP basis our
diluted earnings per share rose 119 percent.

Our balance sheet strengthened over the year, with
$1.5 billion in cash and marketable securities at
year-end. With our healthy cash flow and solid
financial position, we continued to return cash to
shareholders via share repurchases. During the year,
we bought back 21 million shares for $555 million,
which contributed to a reduction in the number of
diluted shares ogutstanding.

Our ability to more consistently deliver on our goals
and to improve our performance has generated
substantial value creation for sharehe¢lders. Over the
past one’-, three- and five-year periods, we have
outperformed the three major market indices - the
Dow Jones Industrial Average, the S&P 500, the
NASDAQ Composite and major software indices

- by wide margins.
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I'm pleased with the progress we’ve made — and that
we're continuing to make — in improving our financial
performance and building shareholder value. And I'm
proud of the transformation that our BSM vision and
approach are driving in enterprise IT management.
But | also know that we have plenty of work left to do.
We're only at the beginning of a much larger, broader
BSM adoption phase by companies around the woerld,
and we're determined to leverage our leadership and
capture the opportunities ahead. These opportunities
will be driven in large part by an important dynamic
that is poised to fundamentally reshape IT
management within the enterprise: the automation

of IT functions and processes. |T automation enables
companies to improve quality and service, increase




efficiency and productivity, and allocate IT spending
more effectively to drive innovation and growth.

It's a natural evolution for companies that have
optimized, standardized and automated other key
corporate and business functions. What’s more,
automation is imperative for enterprises adopting
newer IT approaches in which complexity is
increased by an order of magnitude — such as server
virtualization, service-oriented architectures and
software-as-a-service business models.

BMC is best positioned to benefit from these trends.
As mentioned above, we have the broadest suite of
BSM offerings, and are far ahead of cur competitors
in ensuring true architectural integration. Our

entire business and our entire focus is enterprise
management software. We are truly “platform
agnostic” - we ensure that our software works
equally well with mainframe and distributed systems
hardware and software platforms. In the increasingly
competitive landscape in which we operate,
innovation in and the continued evolution of our
BSM solutions will be critical to staying aligned

with customer demands. So from a research and
development standpoint, we will continue to invest
internally to develop new offerings and new
functionality for existing offerings. We’ll also
continue to allocate capital externally to targeted
acquisitions. The purchase of identify Software Ltd.
early in fiscal 2007 is an excellent example of our
acquisition strategy at work: it bolstered our
performance and transaction management solutions,
it was accretive to earnings and it represented an
attractive use of capital.

Another important way in which we’re working to
execute our vision and prepare for the future is by
further extending our BSM architecture and solutions
across both our Enterprise Service Management and
Mainframe Service Management businesses.

As I've said before, we like the mainframe business
- it's a critical platform for most of the world’s
biggest IT enterprises, the market is large, we have
significant market share, and we earn good returns.
At the same time, however, the mainframe market

is slowly decreasing in size and the lumpiness of
customer purchasing patterns can skew our guarterly
results. The creation of a stand-alone business unit
focusing on this market clearly had a positive impact
on our results during fiscal 2007 and also provides
greater shareholder transparency for this part of our
business. We are proud of our success in the

mainframe market, and we are working hard to
maintain our share and win new customer accounts.
Our BSM strategy will be an important competitive
advantage for us on both fronts.

We have worked hard over the past few years to
transform our company, streamline our processes
and eliminate redundancies. While we're pieased
with the success of our efforts to date to grow our
business, there’'s room for further improvement in
both our front-end and back-end business processes,
and we have a number of initiatives underway that
will bear fruit in fiscal 2008 and heyond.

Looking ahead, we are excited about the
opportunities we see to drive further increases

in shareholder value. Demand by customers for
BSM solutions is accelerating, and we are strongly
positioned to capture that demand. The mainframe
market continues to look attractive to us and our
focus here is on maintaining our market share and
profitability. We've consistently demonstrated our
ability to generate improvements in our productivity
and operating efficiency and expect these trends
to continue.

In closing, | would like to thank our board of directors
for their continuing guidance and support. Deep
appreciation also is due cur employees, for their
tremendous commitment and dedication to making
our company an industry leader, and to our global
business partners, for the important role they play.
And to our shareholders, | appreciate as always your
continuing trust in BMC Software.

Sincerely,

v

Robert E. Beauchamp
President and Chief Executive Officer

Investors are encouraged 1o review (ha reconciliation of tha non-GAAP finangial
measuras used to thair most directly comparable GAAP financizl measures and
an explanation of our use of non-GAAP financial measures contained in Lhe press
release on our fiscal 2007 fourth guarter results, both of which may be found at
www.bmc.com finvestors.

~

Ona-yesr Indexed Stack Performance chart.

3 Composita is marke1 ¢ap-weighted and consists of Adobe, BEA, CA, Compuware,
McAfes, Novell, Orzcle, Quest, Sypase and Symantac: Source - Factset Rosearch
Systams. Inc.




WHO IS USING BUSINESS SERVICE MANAGEMENT?

From cosmetics to cars, from credit cards to computers, a growing number of companies
across a growing number of industries are turning to Business Service Management.
They include some of the world's LARGEST and most innovative businesses, many

with operations spanning the Americas, Europe and Asia.

Growing demand for BSM is fueled by a simple, yet compelling value proposition.
BSM offers customers a PROVEN way to automate IT processes, strategically align
IT with business priorities, and IMPROVE productivity, quality and efficiency.
That's what the buzz over BSM is all about, and it's driving continued strong growth
of our BSM offerings.










WHY IS BSM IMPORTANT TO OUR CUSTOMERS?

ERP systems have transformed how many companies manage their finance, HR, sales, CRM

and supply chain functions. Likened to the ERP system for IT, BSM offers similar benefits.

First, BSM helps companies transform, standardize and automate IT Service Management
processes and workflows that have traditionally been people-intensive. BSM also offers
greater ALIGNMENT between IT and the BUSINESS to improve how IT shapes, responds

and reacts to business decisions and challenges.

The end result; more accurate, integrated data, streamlined workflows, automated processes
and improved decision-making. The resulting increase in | T EFFICIENCY and productivity

also yields savings that companies can reallocate to fund high value projects.




WHAT MAKES BMC THE LEADER IN BSM?

Vision, strategy and execution: this is what's driving BMC's leadership in BSM.

Early on, we developed a comprehensive VISION to empower companies to manage IT
from a husiness perspective. And we laid out a roadmap to take our company - and our
customers - there. We've invested in R&D to develop in-house leading-edge technology such
as the BMC® Atrium™ CMDB, the foundation of BSM, and to ensure smooth integration of
our offerings. We*ve also made TARGETED acquisitions to enhance our CAPABILITIES; |
in fiscal 2007 we purchased identify Software {transaction management} and shortly after
year's end we acquired ProactiveNet (intelligent event management). We've continued to

broaden our ecosystem of strategic partners and alliances.

Tirgye










HOW IS BMC ENHANCING OUR MARKET LEADERSHIP?

While customers’ adoption of BSM is accelerating, the BSM market overall is in its early
stages — and BMC is determined to maintain its LEADERSHIP amidst the industry’s

continued growth.

We currently have the BROADEST, most integrated suite of BSM offerings on the
market today — and we’re working to extend our LEAD. During 2007, we updated and
enhanced the functionality of several key products lines, such as BMC Performance
Manager, while at the same time broadening our capabilities. We're also focused on
delivering BSM across both mainframe and distributed systems environments; a key
BMC competitive advantage is that our mainframe business is an integral part of our

BSM strategy, architecture and vision.




HOW DOES BSM AFFECT OUR STRATEGY?

Already a multi-billion dollar market, the BSM market and associated IT management segments
are GROWING at over 12% per year, according to leading industry analysts. Broader adoption
of BSM by existing proponents, new adoptions by “green field” customers, and expansion of
the BSM addressable market will continue to power this growth across what leading analysts
believe is a 20-year wave of customer adoption. BMC has the sharpest BSM focus among its
largest competitors, and is COMMITTED to anticipating and LEADING the industry’s
continuing evolution. With leading-edge technology, significant financial resources, an
experienced and focused management team, and a broad network of technology and channel

partners, BMC is strongly positioned for continued success in the industry it pioneered.
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During 2007, our company’s clear BSM strategy and
sharp focus on execution drove improved business
and financial results — and increased value for
shareholders, The board of directors is encouraged
by BMC’s continued progress and recognizes the
hard work and commitment of the company’s
management and employees.

We are also encouraged by the company’s ongoing
improvements in key areas of corporate governance.
According to |1SS, a leading provider of corporate
governance solutions, our Corporate Governance
Quotient for 2007 ranked ahead of 98% of Software
& Services peer companies.

Qur board of directors continues to remain
independent, with membership consisting of 10
nonexecutive directors who meet the criteria for
independence required by the NYSE, as well as
Bob Beauchamp, BMC Software President and
Chief Executive Officer. Recently, we welcomed
Tom Smach, chief financial officer of Flextronics
International Ltd., to our board. Tom will also serve
on the company’s Audit Committee. His appointment
fills a vacancy created by the resignation, for
personal reasons, of Lou Lavigne. Lou served on
our board since 2004, and we appreciate his
contributions over the past several years. John
Barter, a long-serving director, recently announced,
also for personal reasons, that he will not be
standing for re-election to our board at this year's
shareholders meeting. John joined our board
before the company’s initial public offering in 1988,
and we thank him for his nearly two decades of
dedicated service to BMC Software,

NON-GAAP DILUTED EPS*
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As we move forward, our board of directors will
remain focused on promoting the best interests of
our shareholders by providing guidance and
oversight for the management of the company’s
business and affairs. We believe today that BMC
Software has the right strategy in place to further
create shareholder value.

B. Garland Cupp
Chairman of the Board

4 Comparable GAAP EPS for the periods presented appear in the Financial

Highlights section. Investors are ancouraged to review the reconciliation of the
non-GAAP diluted EPS used in this chart to their most directly comparable GAAP
diluted EPS and an explanation of our use of non-GAAP financial measutes at
www.bme.com/finvestors.
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This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section
27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are identified by the use of the words “believe,” “expect.”” “anticipate,” “will.” “contemplate,”
“would” and similar expressions that contemplate future events. Numerous important factors, risks and uncertainties
affect our operating results, including, without limitation, those contained in this Report, and could cause our actual
results to differ materially from the results implied by these or any other forward-looking statements made by us or
on our behalf. There can be no assurance that future results will meet expectations. You should pay particular
attention to the important risk factors and cautionary statements described in the section of this Report entitled Risk
Factors. You should also carefully review the cautionary statements described in the other documents we file from
time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC}), specifically all Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q
and Current Reports on Form 8-K. Information contained on our website is not part of this Report.




PART1
ITEM 1. Business
Overview

BMC Software is one of the world’s largest independent software vendors. Delivering Business Service
Management, we provide software solutions that companies use to manage their information technology (IT)
infrastructure from a business perspective. Qur extensive portfolio of software sclutions spans enterprise systems,
applications, databases and service management. We were organized as a Texas corporation in 1980 and were
reincorporated in Delaware in July 1988. Our principal corporate offices are located at 2101 CityWest Boulevard,
Houston, Texas 77042-2827. Our main telephone number is (713) 918-8800, and our primary internet address is
http://www.bmc.com.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. These filings
and all related amendments are available free of charge at http://www.bmc.com/investors. We post all of our SEC
documents to our website as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. Qur corporate governance guidelines and the charters of key Board of Directors committees
are also available at www.bme.com, as is our Professional Conduct Policy and Code of Ethics, as amended from
time to time. Printed copies of each of these documents are available to stockholders upon request by contacting our
investor relations department at (800) 841-2031 ext. 4525 or via email at investor@bme.com.

Strategy

We provide software solutions that customers use to drive significant business value through better management
of technology and IT processes. Our customers can reliably and cost-effectively align the technologies they use with
the objectives of the customers they support. Essentially. our solutions help customers better serve their customers,
whether internal or external.

We were the first major enterprise software provider to focus on Business Service Management (BSM), which
today is considered to be the most effective approach for managing IT. The BSM approach to IT management
resonates powerfully with customers, and we have been recognized for leadership in this area by industry analysts.
We strive to deliver a comprehensive suite of solutions that will help our customers manage diverse infrastructure
configurations and unify IT process silos. We pursue a constant posture of innovation so that we can help our
customers stay ahead of their competition.

Helping customers align their IT infrastructure and operations with the needs of their business requires a robust
structure that can be adopted universally and incrementally. To accomplish this, we focus on eight solution areas
that are proven paths for BSM implementation. Focusing on these BSM solution areas, we work with customers,
partners and systems integrators to solve critical IT and business alignment issues. Our BSM solution areas include
Incident and Problem Management, Asset Management and Discovery, Identity Management, Service Impact and
Event Management, Service Level Management, Capacity Management and Provisioning, Infrastructure and
Application Management and Change and Configuration Management.

Underlying these solutions is a family of enabling technologies called BMC Atrium that provides a shared view
of how IT supports business priorities. One of the key compenents of BMC Atrium is the BMC Atrium
Configuration Management Database (CMDB). The BMC Atrium CMDB is an open-architected, intelligent data
repository that provides greater alignment of disparate IT functions to common business priorities with accurate,
pervasive, and business-aware visibility into the dependencies between business processes, users, and IT
infrastructure. It ensures a consistent approach o maintaining IT processes, such as incident, problem, change.
configuration. asset. and service impact management.

A critical element of our BSM strategy is to provide best practices for each of our key solution areas. To do this,
we have increased investment in thought leadership and consultative services, including education, as part of a
comprehensive solution delivery approach.




One of our key areas of focus is providing best practices consistent with the IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL).
ITIL is the most widely adopted IT-reluted best practice framework and is now an I1SO standard. We have broadly
trained our customer-facing organizations on ITIL best practices and provide education and certification to
customers and partners through our Business School, In response to customer needs, we are investing in, developing
and marketing solutions that address the challenges of audit and regulutory compliance affecting the 1T organization.
The BSM selution areas support ITIL best practices and assist in addressing issues around compliance.

Solutions and Products

During the first quarter of fiscal 2007, we reorganized internally into two software business segments to improve
our execution and customer focus and align our resources and product development etforts to meet the demands of
the dynamic markets we serve. These segments are related to our software producis and are now referred to as our
Enterprise Service Management (ESM) and Mainframe Service Management (MSM) segments. In addition, our
third segment is comprised of our Professional Services (PS} organization. Our management reviews the results of
our software business by these segments. For financial information related to these product categories, see Note 13
10 the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our ESM segment consists of our non-mainframe solutions. Our core BSM products. including our Remedy
service management products, identity management and transaction management products are included in this
segment. Linking all of our BSM solutions is the BMC Atrium enabling technologies which leverages the CMDB
repository. Our ESM segment products address the following broad categories of [T management issues:

* Application Managememt — Our application management products proactively manage the availability and
performance of business applications, improve data accuracy, and increase the productivity of an IT staff o
ensure a consistent and optimal experience for application end users.

» Database Management — Our database management products provide performance. administration and
recovery across all major database platforms, including Oracle. DB2 UDB, Sybase. and MS-5QL. Server.
Our solutions allow database administrators to manage database assets in a centralized, automated and
standard fashion, eliminating redundancies and inefficiencies and reducing the specialized skills required to
manage different databases.

Infrastructure Management — OQur infrastructure management products assist customers in managing,
optimizing and awomating distributed operating systems, servers, storage. networks, middleware and
hardware in support of BSM. These products simplify network and systems management by monitoring and
overseeing system performance and availability across the IT environment. Customers use these products to
avoid [T infrastructure problems and resolve issues belore they impact business availability.

Service Management — Qur service management products, including our Remedy service management
applications, ensure IT service levels and discover, understand. mode!, respond to, and track IT system
problems and business services failures in support of BSM.

Security Management — Our securtty management praducts assist customers in securing their systems and
corporate information, increasing operational efficiency and improving their ability to meet regulatory
compliance requirements. Our security management products are designed to be adaptive to business
changes, allowing customers to reduce risks associated with software vulnerabilities, unauthorized access,
and identity theft while enforcing patch and identity policies.

Transaction Management — In May 2006, we completed our acquisition of Identify Software Ltd. (Identify
Software). a leading global provider of application problem resolution software. The addition of Identify
Software’s solutions has expanded our transaction management product otfering by providing customers
with deep application and problem resolution capabilities, enubling them to pinpoint the cause of transaction
breakdowns. Identify Software’s solutions have demonstrated clear and consistent customer ROI and time-
to-value savings by increasing application availability and significantly reducing the cost of problem
resolutions,




Our MSM solutions are architected for companies that count on IT for competitive differentiation. These
products optimize mainframe services within the context of the enterprise IT infrastructure. so our customers can
consistently meet service objectives while lowering their cost of operations. Our innovative solutions use intelligent
awtomation to assure the availability of these critical business services and are backed by unparalleled 24-hour
global support. The three mainframe solution areas are:

* Data Management — Qur data management solutions provide best of breed solutions for IBM's IMS and
DB2 database systems, in the areas of administration, performance monitoring. tuning and recovery. We are
the market share leader in these markets.

¢ Infrastructure Management — Our MAINVIEW and AutoOPERATOR product lines provide monitoring
‘and tuning solutions fTor IBM’s zOS operating systems and other mainframe subsystems. Through
automation, these solutions provide customers with a consolidated view of data center mainframes centered
on business transactions, which helps drive down the total cost of mainframe ownership.

« Enterprise Scheduling and Output Management — With industry feading technology, our CONTROL-M and
CONTROL-D product lines provide consistent linkage and synchronization of scheduling tasks across the
entire data center as well as mainframe output control.

Our mainframe solutions also provide an intelligent. automated infrastructure management layer for the
mainframe that is fully integrated with our BSM platform. Mainframe Discovery populates CMDB entities which
are under management control of the MSM solution portfolio. The solution then includes a rich two way
communicition between the infrastructure management products and the overarching ITSM suite, delivering &
completely connected mainframe support capability within the BSM solution.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products in most major world markets directly through our sales force and indirectly
through channel partners, including resellers, distributors and systems integrators, Our sales force includes an inside
sales division which provides a channel for additional sales to existing customers and expanding our customer base.

International Operations

Approximately 48%. 47% and 48% of our total revenue in fiscal 2007. 2006 and 2003, respectively, was derived
from business outside the United States. Revenue from our foreign subsidiaries is typically denominated in local
currencies. as are operating expenses incurred in these locales. To date, we have not had any material foreign
currency exchange gains or losses net of our hedging activity. For a discussion of our currency hedging program and
the impact of currency fluctuations on international license revenue. see Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Domestic vs. International Revenue: Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk and Note 3 to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. For additional
financial information regarding our domestic and international operations, see Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Revenue and Note i3 to the accompanying
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We ure a global company conducting sales, sales support, product development and support, marketing and
product distribution services from numerous international offices. In addition to our sales offices located in major
economic centers around the world, we also conduct development activities in the United States, Israel, India,
France and Belgium. as well as in small offices in other locations. Product manufacturing and distribution is based
in Houston, Texas, with European manufacturing and distribution based in Dublin, Ireland. We plan to continue to
look for opportunities to efficicntly expand our operations in international locations that offer highly talented
resources as a way to maximize our global competitiveness. For a discussion of various risks associated with our
investments in global operations, see Risk Factors related to global operations.




Maintenance and Support Services

Revenue from maintenance and support services comprised 58%, 59% and 56% of BMC's total revenue in fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005. respectively. Maintenance and support enrollment generally entitles customers to technical
support services (including telephone and internet support and problem resolution services) and the right to receive
unspecified product upgrades, maintenance releases and patches released during the term of the support peried on a
when-and-if available basis. Maintenance and support service fees are an important source of recurring revenue, and
we invest significant resources to provide maintenance and support services.

Professional Services

Our professional services group consists of 4 worldwide team of experienced software consultants who provide
implementation, integration and education services related to our products. By easing the implementation of our
products, these services help our customers accelerate the time to value. By improving the overall customer
experience, these services aiso drive future software license transactions with customers. Professional services
contributed approximately 6% of our total revenue in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Product Pricing and Licensing

Our software solutions are licensed under multiple license types using a variety of business metrics. We have
historically licensed our software primarily on a perpetual basis; however, we also provide customers the right to use
our software for a defined period of time, which is referred to as a term contract. Under a term contract, the
customer receives the license rights to use the software, combined with the related maintenance and support
services, for the term of the contract. Some of our more common perpetual licensing models are as follows:

* Enterprise license — a license to use one or more products across a customer’s enterprise, usually subject to
capacity limits. Capacity can be measured in many ways, including mainframe computing capacity, number
of servers. number of users or number of gigabytes, among others. Additional license fee prices are specified
in the enterprise license agreement and are typically paid on an annual basis in the event a customer exceeds
agreed capacity.

* Capacity license — a license to use one or more products up to a specific license capacity. To use the
products on additional capacity in excess of the original license, additional license fees would have to be
agreed to as part of another license transaction.

For a discussion of our revenue recognition policies and the impact of our licensing models on revenue, see
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Criticul Accounting
Policies — Revenue Recognition and Note | to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

We provide extended payment terms for our products and services for qualifying transactions. By providing such
financing, we allow our customers to better manage their IT expenditures and cash flows. Our financing program is
discussed in further detail below under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources,

Research and Development

We conduct research and development activities in various locations throughout the world. In fiscal 2007, 2006
and 2005, research and development expenses represented 13%, 14% and 15% of our total revenue, respectively.
These costs relate primarily to personnel and related costs incurred to conduct product development activities.
Although we develop many of our products internally, we may acquire technology through business combinations or
through licensing from third parties when appropriate. Our expenditures on research and development activities in
the last three fiscal years are discussed below under Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Research and Development.




Seasonality

We tend to experience a higher volume of transactions and associated revenue in the quarter ended December
31, which is our third fiscal quarter. and the quarter ended March 31, which is our fourth fiscal quarter. as a result of
our customers’ spending patterns and our annual sales quota incentives. As a result of this seasonality for license
transactions and timing of related payments, we tend to have greater operating cash flow in the subsequent fourth
and first fiscal quarters.

Competition

The enterprise management software business is highly competitive. Both our ESM and MSM businesses
compete against a number of competitors, including large vendors who compete with us at a strategic solution level
and across multiple product lines as well as smaller, niche competitors who compete against individual products of
ours. Our largest competitors are [BM, CA, Inc. (CA) and Hewlett-Packard (HP). Although we believe we are
uniquely positioned to offer BSM solutions to customers, several of our major competitors have begun to market
BSM-like solutions, and we anticipate continued competition in the BSM marketplice. We consider at least 100
firms to be directly competitive with one or more of our enterprise software solutions. Some of these companies
have substantially larger operations than ours in the specific markets in which we compete. In addition. the software
industry is experiencing continued consolidation. Nonetheless. because we provide enterprise management solutions
across multiple platfforms we believe we are better positioned to provide customers with comprehensive
management solutions for their complex multi-vendor IT environments than integrated hardware and software
companies like IBM and HP.

We anticipate that the key criteria considered by potential purchasers of our products are as follows: operational
advantages and cost savings provided; expected return on investment; product quality and capability; product price
and the terms on which the product is licensed; ease of integration of the product with the purchaser’s existing
systems; ease of product installation and use; and quality of suppont and product documentation. Because potential
purchasers of our products typically acquire such software to manage critical IT systems, they often consider the
market experience and financial health of the vendor in making their purchasing decision.

Customers

No single customer accounted for a material portion of our revenue during any of the past three fiscal years. Our
software products are generally used in a broad range of industries, businesses and applications. Our customers
include manufacturers, telecommunications companies, financial service providers, educational institutions,
retailers, distributors, hospitals, service providers, government agencies and value-added resellers.

Intellectual Property

We distribute our products in object code form and rely upon contract, trade secret, copyright and patent laws to
protect our intellectnal property. The license agreements under which customers use our products restrict the
customer’s use (o its own operations and prohibit disclosure 1o third parties. We distribule certain of our products on
a shrink-wrap basis, and the enforceability of such restrictions in a shrink-wrap license is unproven in certain
jurisdictions. Also, notwithstanding these restrictions, it is possible for other persons to obtain copies of our products
in object code form. We expect that obtaining such copies would have limited value without access 10 the product’s
source code, which we keep highly confidential. In addition, we employ protective measures such as CPU dependent
passwords, expiring passwords and time-based trials.

Employees

As of March 31, 2007, we had approximately 6,000 full-time employees. We expect that our continued success
will depend in pant on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled technical, sales, marketing and management
personnel.




ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a dynamic environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties. The following section
describes some of the risks that may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations: these
are not necessarily listed in terms of their importance or level of risk.

We may announce lower than expected revenue, license bookings or earnings, which could cause our stock
price to decline.

Our ability 10 accurately and consistently predict revenue, license bookings and earnings within narrow ranges is
weakened by two principle factors:

» first, a highly significant proportion of our license transactions close during the final days of each quarter:
this pattern is evident in all product lines and among all sales channels; and

» second. even after contracts have been executed. extensive analysis is required before the timing of revenue
recognition can be reliably determined; this delay reflects both the complexity of the revenue recognition
rules applicable to software and the effect that the various license types and other terms and conditions can
have when these rules are applied.

Numerous other factors, some listed below, also have potential to adversely affect our financial results:

* the possibility that our customers may defer or limit purchases as a result of reduced information technology
budgets or reduced data processing capacity demand;

* our ability to adapt our solutions to customers’ needs in a market space defined by constant technological
change:

* potential fossesx on marketable securities, foreign exchange exposures or contracts, or other losses from
financial instruments we may hold that are exposed to market losses;

* higher than expected operating expenses:
* an unexpected increase in weighted average shares outstanding due to much higher than expected exercises

of stock options or a sudden and significant increase in our stock price causing our fully diluted weighted
average shares outstanding to increase, either of which could cause reported earnings per share to decline;

changes in our pricing and distribution terms and/or those of our competitors: and

the possibility that our business will be adversely affected as a result of the threat of significant external
events that increase global economic uncertainty.

Investors should not rely on the results of prior periods as an indication of our future performance. Our operating
expense levels are based, in significant part, on our expectations of future revenue. If we have a shortfall in revenue
in any given quarter, we will not be able o reduce our operating expenses for that quarter proportionally in response.
Therefore, any significant shortfall in revenue will likely have an immediate adverse effect on our operating results
for that quarter, and could cause our stock price to decline.




We may have difficulty achieving our cash flow from operations goals.

Our quarterly cash flow is and has been volutile. If our cash generated from operations in some future period is
materially less than the market expects, our stock price could decline. Factors that could adversely affect our cash
flow from operations in the future include: reduced net earnings; increased time required for the collection of
accounds receivable; an increase in uncollectible accounts receivable; a significant shift from multi-year committed
contracts to short-term contracts; a reduced ability 10 transfer finance receivables to third parties: an increase in
contracts where expenses such as sales commissions are paid upfront but payments from customers are collected
over time: reduced rencwal rates for maintenance: an increase in cash taxes; outlays from legal actions, costs, fees or
settlements; realized losses on foreign exchange: and reduced yields on marketable securities and cash and cash
equivalents.

Maintenance revenue could decline.

Maintenance revenue has increased in each of the last three fiscal years as a result of acquisitions and the
continuing growth in the base of installed products and the processing capacity on which they run. Maintenance fees
increase as the processing capacity on which the products are installed increases: consequently. we receive higher
absolute maintenance fees with new license and maintenance agreements and as existing customers install our
products on additional processing capacity. Price competition on enterprise transactions can lead to increased
discounting for higher levels of supplemental processing capacity: the maintenance fees on a per unit of capacity
basis are typically reduced in enterprise license ugreements. In addition, customers are generally entitled to reduced
annual maintenance percentages for entering into long-term maintenance contracts. These discounts, combined with
an increase in long-lerm maintenance contracts with reduced maintenance percentages and our license bookings
perfermance, have led w lower year-over-year growth rates for our maintenance revenue excluding acquisitions.
Declines in our license bookings, increases in the proportion of long-term maintenance contracts and/or increased
discounting would lead to declines in our maintenance revenue growth rates. Should customers migrate from their
mainframe applications or find alternatives to our products, increased cancellations could lead to declines in our
maintenance revenue. As maintenance revenue makes up a substantial portion of our total revenue. any decline in
our maintenance revenue could have an adverse impact on our stock price.

Our restructuring efforts may strain our management, administrative, technical, operational and financial
infrastructure.

We are focused on increasing our operating margins. To this end, we have undertaken restructurings over the
past several years involving significant reductions in our workforce. relocation of job functions to overseas locations
and changes 1o our organizational structure. We will continue to make organizational changes aimed at improving
our operating margins and driving operating efficiencies. Some of these changes muy result in future workforce
reductions or rebalancing actions, These efforts place a strain on our management. administrative, technical,
operational and financial infrastructure. Our ability to manage our complex, global operations while reducing
operaling costs requires us to continue to improve our product development, our operational, financial and
management controls and our reporting systems and procedures. There can be no guarantees that we will be
successful in achieving our profitability fargets in any future quarterly or annual period.

The software industry includes large, powerful multi-line and small, agile single-line competitors.

Some of our largest competitors, including 1BM. CA and HP have significant scale advantages. With scale
comes a large installed base of customers in particular market niches. as well as the ability to develop and market
software compelitive with ours. Some of these competitors can also bundle hardware, software. and services
together, which is a disadvantage for us since we do not provide hardware and have fewer scrvices offerings.
Competitive products are also offered by numerous independent software companies that specialize in specific
aspects of the highly fragmented software industry. Some, like Microsoft Corporation (Microsoft), Oracle
Corporation {(Oracle), and SAP Aktiengesellschaft (SAP) are the leading developers and vendors in their specialized
markets. In addition, new companies enter the market on a frequent and regular basis, offering products that
compete with some individual products offered by us. As the software industry consolidates generally. it is possible
that storage and security vendors such as EMC Corporation and Symantec Corporation will enter the systems
management market. Additionally, many customers historically have developed their own products that compete
with those offered by us. Competition from any of these sources can result in price reductions or displacement of our
products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash
flows.




Industry consolidation could affect prices or demand for our products.

The IT industry and the market for our systems management products are very competilive due to a variety of
factors. As the enterprise systems software market matures, it is consolidating. This trend could create opportunities
for larger companies, such as IBM, Microsoft and Oracle, to increase their market share through the acquisition of
companies that dominate certain lucrative market niches or that have loyal installed customer bases. In doing so,
these competitors may be able to reduce prices on software that competes with our solutions, subsidizing such price
decreases with high-margin sales they produce elsewhere in their operations. We expect this trend towards
consolidation to continue as companies attempt to maintain or extend their market and competitive positions in the
rapidly changing software industry and as companies are acquired or are unable to continue operations. This
industry consolidation may result in stronger competitors that are better able to compete as sole-source vendors for
customers. This could lead to more variability in our operating results due to lengthening of the customer evaluation
process, increased pricing pressure and/or loss of business 1o these larger competitors, which may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows,

Our products must remain compatible with ever-changing operating and database environments.

IBM, HP. Microsoft and Oracle are by far the largest suppliers of systems and database software and, in some
cases, are the manufacturers of the computer hardware systems used by most of our customers. Historically,
operating and database system developers have modified or introduced new operating systems, database systems,
systems software and computer hardware. Such new products could incorporate features which perform functions
currently performed by our products or could require substantial modification of our products to maintain
compatibility with these companies’ hardware or software. We have generally been able to adapt our products and
our business to changes introduced by hardware manufacturers and operating and database system software
developers. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so in the future. Failure to adapt our
products in a timely manner to such changes or customer decisions to forego the use of our products in favor of
those with comparable functionality contained either in the hardware or operating system could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Future product development is dependent upon access to third-party source code.

In the past, licensees using proprietary operating systems were furnished with “source code,” which makes the
operating system generally understandable to programmers, and “‘object code,” which directly controls the hardware,
and other technical documentation. Since the availability of source code facilitated the development of systems and
applications software, which must interface with the operating systems, independent software vendors such as us
have been able to develop and market compatible software. IBM and other hardware vendors have a policy of
restricting the use or availability of the source code for some of their operating systems. To date, this policy has not
had a material effect on us. Some companies, however, may adopt more restrictive policies in the future or impose
unfavorable terms and conditions for such access. These restrictions may, in the future, result in higher research and
development costs for us in connection with the enhancement and modification of our existing products and the
development of new products. Although we do not expect that such restrictions will have this adverse effect, there
can be no assurances that such restrictions or other restrictions will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

Future product development is dependent upon early access to third-party operating and database systems.

Operating and database system software developers have in the past provided us with early access to pre-
generally available versions of their software to have input into the functionality and to ensure that we can adapt our
software to exploit new functionality in these systems. Some companies, however, may adopt more restrictive
policies in the future or impose unfavorable terms and conditions for such access. These restrictions may result in
higher research and development costs for us in connection with the enhancement and medification of our existing
products and the development of new products. Although we do not expect that such restrictions will have this
adverse effect, there can be no assurances that such restrictions or other restrictions will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows.




Future product development is dependent upon access to and reliability of third-party software producis.

Certain of our software products contain components developed and maintained by third-party software vendors.
We expect that we may have 1o incorporate software from third-party vendors in our future products. We may not be
able to replace the functionality provided by the third-party software currently offered with our products if that
software becomes obsolete, defective or incompatible with future versions of our products or is not adequaiely
maintained or updated. or if our relationship with the third-party vendor terminates. Although we expect there are
adequate aliernate sources for the technology licensed to us. any significant interruption in the availability of these
third-party software products on commercially acceptable terms or defects in these products could delay
development of future products or enhancement of future products and negatively impact our revenue.

Future product development is dependent on adequate research and development resources.

In order to remain competitive, we must continue to develop new products and enhancements 1o our existing
products. This is particularly true as we build-out our vision of BSM. Maintaining adequate research and
development resources, such as the appropriate talent and development technology, to meet the demands of the
market is essential. Failure to do so could present an advantage to our competitors. Further, if’ we are unable to
develop products internally due to certain constraints, such as high employee turnover, lack of management ability.
or a lack of other development resources it may force us to expand into a certain market or strategy via an
acquisition for which we could potentially pay oo much or unsuccessfully integrate into our operations.

Growing market acceptance of “open source” software could cause a deeline in our revenue and operating
margins.

Growing market acceplance of open source software has presented both benefits and challenges to the
commercial software industry in recent years. “Open source” software is made widely available by its authors and is
licensed “as is” for a nominal fee or. in some cases. at no charge. We have incorporated some open source software
into our products, allowing us to enhance certain solutions without incurring substantial additional research and
development costs. Thus far, we have encountered no unanticipated material problems arising from our use of open
source software. As the use of open souwrce software becomes more widespread, certain open source technology
could become competitive with our proprietary technology, which could cause sales of our products to decline or
force us to reduce the fees we charge for our products, which could have a material adverse impact on our revenue
and operating margins.

Discavery of errors in our software could adversely affect our earnings.

The software products we offer are inherently complex. Despite testing and quality control, we cannot be certain
that errors will not be found in current versions, new versions or enhancements of our products after commencement
of commercial shipments. If new or existing customers have difficulty deploying our products or require significant
amounts of customer support, our operating margins could be harmed. Moreover. we could face possible claims and
higher development costs if our software contains undetected errors or if we fail to meel our customers’
expectations. With our BSM strategy, these risks increase because we are combining already complex products to
create solutions that are even more complicated than the aggregation of their product components. Significant
technical challenges could also arise with our products because our customers purchase and deploy our products
across a variety of computer platforms and iniegrate them with a number of third-party sofiware applications and
databuses. These combinations increase our risk further because in the event of a system-wide failure, it may be
difficult to determine which product is at fault; thus, we may be harmed by the failure of another supplier’s products.
As a result of the foregoing, we could experience:

loss of or delay in revenue and loss of market share:
* loss of customers;
« damage 10 our reputation:

« (ailure to achieve market acceptance;




» diversion of development resources;
* increased service and warranty costs;

* legal actions by customers against us which could, whether or not successful, increase costs and distract our
management; and

* increased insurance costs.

Failure to maintain our existing distribution channels and develop additional channels in the future could
adversely affect our revenue.

The percentage of our revenue from sales of our products and services through distribution channels such as
systems integrators and value-added resellers is increasing. Conducting business through indirect distribution
channels presents a number of risks. including:

* our systems integrators and value-added resellers can cease marketing our products and services with limited
or no notice and with little or no penalty:

* we may not be able to replace existing or recruit additional systems integrators or value-added resellers if we
lose any of our existing ones:

* our existing systems integrators and value-added resellers may not be able to effectively sell new products
and services that we may introduce;

* we do not have direct control over the business practices adopted by our systems integrators and value-added
resellers;

our systems integrators and value-added resellers may also offer competitive products and services and as
such. may not give priority to the marketing of our products und services us compared to our competitors”
products; and

we may face conflicts between the activities of our indirect channels and our direct sales and murketing
activities,

Our customers may not accept our product or sales strategies.

Historically, we have focused on selling software products to address specific customer problems associated with
their applications. Our BSM strategy requires us to integrate multiple software products so that they work together
to provide comprehensive systems munagement solutions. There can be no assurance that customers will perceive a
need for such solutions. Tn addition, there may be technical difficulties in integrating individual products into a
combined solution that may delay the introduction of such solutions to the market or adversely affect the demand for
such solutions. We may also adopt different sales strategies for marketing our products, and there can be no
assurance that our strategies for selling solutions will be successful.

Changes to compensation of our sales organization may have unintended effects.

We review and modify our compensation plans for the sales organization periodically. As in imost years. we have
made chunges for fiscal 2008, These plans are intended to align with our business objectives of providing customer
flexibility and satisfaction. The compensation plans may encourage unanticipated or unintended behavior which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Changes to our sales
compensation plan could also make it difficult for us to attract and retain top sales talent.




Risks related to business combinations.

As part of our overali strategy, we have acquired or invested in, and likely will continue to acquire or invest in,
complementary companies. products, and technologies. Risks commonly encountered in such transactions include:
the difficulty of assimilating the personnel and operations of the combined companies. including back-office
functions and systems, such as accounting, human resources and others, into our own back-office funciions and
systems. the risk that we may not be able to integrate the acquired technologies or products with our current
products and technologies: the potential disruption of our ongoing business, including potential distraction of
management from other objectives, opportunities and risks: the inability to retain key technical, sales and managerial
personnel; the inability of management to maximize our financial and strategic position through the successful
integration of acquired businesses; the potential that our policies, procedures and controls are not applied to the
acquired entity in a timely manner following the acquisition; degradation of relationships with the acquired entity’s
customers, partners or vendors, creating challenges for us to mect the objectives of the acquisition; failure of our
pre-acquisition due diligence to identify material issues, such as problems with software code, architecture or
functionality, employment or management issues, errors or irregularities in the financial reporting of the target. legal
contingencies or other issues we do not discover during our due diligence: the risk that revenue from acquired
companies, products and technologies do not meet our expectations; decreases in reported earnings as a result of
charges for in-process research and development and amortization of acquired intangible assets; and the risk that our
chosen strategy leading to the acquisition was not the appropriate strategy, or that acquiring the technology via the
acquisition would have been better carried-out via internal product development.

For us to maximize the return on our tnvestments in acquired companies, the products of these entities must be
integrated with our existing products and strategies. These integrations can be difficult and unpredictable, especially
given the complexity of software and that acquired technology is typically developed independently and designed
with no regard to integration. The difficulties are compounded when the products involved are well-¢stablished
because compatibility with the existing base of installed products must be preserved. Successful integration also
requires coordination of different development and engineering teams. This too can be difficult and unpredictable
because of possible cultural conflicts and different opinions on technical decisions and product roadmaps. There can
be no assurance that we will be successful in our product integration efforts or that we will realize the expected
benefits.

With each of our acquisitions, we have initiated cfforts to integrate the disparate cultures, employees, systems
and products of these companies. Retention of key employees is critical to ensure the continued development.
support. sales and marketing efforts pertaining to the acquired products. We have implemented retention programs
to keep many of the key technical, sales and marketing employees of acquired companics; nonetheless. we have lost
some key employees and may lose others in the future.

Unanticipated changes in our effective tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liahilities could affect our
profitability.

We carry out our business operations through entities in the United States and multiple foreign jurisdictions. As
such. we are required to file corporate income tax returns that are subject to United States, state and foreign tax laws.
The United States. state and foreign tax liabilities are determined. in part, by the amount of operaling profit
generated in these different taxing jurisdictions. Our effective tax rate and earnings could be adversely affected by
changes in the mix of operating profits generated in countries with higher statutory tax rates as well as by the
positioning of our cash balances globally. Our effective tax is also impacted by our representation under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 23, “Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areas” (APB 23) that a portion of our
foreign earnings are indefinitely reinvested. If we were no longer able o effectively make the APB 23
representation. our effective tax rate would be adversely impacted. We are also required to evaluate the realizability
of our deferred 1ax assets. This evaluation requires that our management assess the positive and negative evidence
regarding sources of future taxable income. If management’s assessment regarding the realizability of our deferred
tux assets changes or we are presented with additional negative evidence regarding future sources of taxable income,
we will be required to increase our valuation allowance, which will negatively impact our effective tax rate and
earnings. We are also subject to routine corporate income tax audits in multiple jurisdictions. Our provision for
income tixes includes amounts intended to satisfy income tax assessments that may result from the examination of
our corporate tax returns that have been filed in these jurisdictions. The amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of
these examinations could be materially different from the amounts included in the provision for income taxes and
result in additional tax expense.




Enforcement of our intellectual property rights.

We rely on a combination of copyrights, patents, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and
contractual procedures to protect our intellectual property rights. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual
property rights, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy certain portions of our products or to
reverse engineer or obtain and use technology or other information that we regard as proprietary. There can also be
no assurance that our intellectual property rights would survive a legal chailenge to their validity or provide
significant protection for us, and any such legal actions could become costly. In addition, the laws or practices of
certain countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.
Accordingly. there can be no assurance that we will be able to protect our proprietary technology against
unauthorized third party copying or use, which could adversely affect our competitive position and revenue.

Possibility of infringement claims.

From time to time, we receive notices from third parties claiming infringement by our products of patent and
other intellectual property rights. We expect that software products will increasingly be subject to such claims as the
number of products and competitors in our industry segments grows and the functionality of products overlaps. In
addition, we may receive more patent infringement claims as companies increasingly seek to patent their software
and business methods and enforce such patents, especially given the increase in sofiware and business method
patents issued during the past several years. Regardless of its merit, responding to any such c¢laim could be time-
consuming, result in costly litigation and require us to enter into royalty and licensing agreements, which may not be
offered or available on terms acceptable 1o us. If a successful claim is made against us and we fail to develop or
license a substitute technology, our business, financial condition. operating results and cash flows could be
materially adversely affected.

Risks related to global operations,

We are a global company conducting our business around the world. As a result, we face risks from operating as
a global concern. including, among others:

« difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;

= possible non-compliance with our professional conduct policy and cede of ethics due to inconsistent
interpretations and/or application of corporate standards:

* longer payment cycles:

* increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
» adverse lax consequences;

* changes in currency exchange rates:

* potential impact from volatile or sluggish local economies:

* loss of proprietary information due to piracy. misappropriation or weaker laws regarding intellectual
property protection;

* the need to localize our products;
* lack of appropriate local infrastructure to carry out operations;
» political unrest or terrorism, particularly in areas in which we have facilities;

* compliance with a wide variety of complex laws and treaties, including unexpected changes in (or new)
legislative or regulatory requirements:

* licenses. tariffs and other trade barriers; and




* natural disaster or disease.

The absence of adequate response plans to recover from any risks mentioned above in any countrics we operate
in could hinder our ability to support customers and maintain normal business operations for a significant length of
time such that our competitive position could be significantly impacted. Furthermore, our financial condition could
be adversely impacted if our costs to recover escalate due to such recovery occurring over a protracted period.

We maintain a significant presence in India, Israel and other emerging market countries, conducting substantial
software development and support, marketing operations, IT operations and certain financial operations.
Accordingly. we are directly affected by economic, political, physical and electrical infrastructure and military
conditions in these countries. Any major hostilities or the interruption or curtailment of trade between these
countries and their present trading partners could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition,
operating results and cash flows. We maintain contingency and business continuity plans for all significant
locations, and to date, various regional conflicts or other local economic or political issues have not caused any
major adverse impact on our operations in these countries. Should we be unable to conduct operations in these
regions in the future, we expect that our business could be adversely affected. Furthermore, as the software and
technology labor market in these countries has developed at a rapid pace, with many multi-national companies
competing for talent, there is a risk that wage and attrition rates will rise faster than we have anticipated, which
could lead to operational issues.

Generally. our foreign sales are denominated in our foreign subsidiaries’ local currencies. If these currency
exchange rates change unexpectedly, we could have significant gains or losses. The foreign currencies to which we
currently have the most significant exposure are the euro and the Israeli shekel. Additionally, fluctuations of the
exchange rate of foreign currencies against the United States dollar can affect our revenue within those markets, all
of which may adversely impact our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows. Currently, we
use derivative financial instruments to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Such hedging
requires us to estimate when transactions will occur and cash will be collected, and we may not be successful in
making these estimates. If these estimates are inaccurate or we do not fully hedge our exposures for any reason,
particularly during periods of currency volatility, it could have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows.

If the carrying value of our long-lived assets were not recoverable, recognition of an impairment loss would be
required, which would adversely affect our financial results.

We evaluate our long-lived assets, including property and equipment, goodwill, acquired product righis and
other intangible assets, whenever events or circumstances occur which indicate that these assets might be impaired
or periodically as required by generally accepted accounting principles. In the continuing process of evaluating the
recoverability of the carrying amount of our long-lived assets, there is the possibility that we could identify a
substantial impairment, which could adversely affect our financial results.

Expensing of share-based compensation has reduced our reported earnings and could adversely affect aur
ability to attract and retain key personnel.

We have historically used stock options and other long-term equity incentives as a fundamental component of
our employee compensation packages. Under new FASB rules adopted at the beginning of this fiscal year, we began
recording charges to earnings for such equity compensation, which negatively impacted earnings. We historically
had accounted for our stock option grants using the intrinsic value method under the provisions of APB Opinion No.
25, where we generally recognized no compensation cost because the exercise price of options granted was
generally equal to the market value of our common stock on the date of grant. In addition, the New York Stock
Exchange rule requiring stockholder approval for all stock option plans could make it more difficult for us to adopt
plans to grant options to employees in the future. Like other companies, we have reviewed our equity compensation
strategy in light of the current regulatory and competitive environment and have decided to reduce the number of
employees who receive share-based compensation. As a result, we may incur increased cash compensation costs or
find it difficult to attract, retain and motivate employees, and such difficulty could materially adversely affect our
business.
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We plan to modify or upgrade our enterprise resource planning and other key software applications, which
could cause unexpected problems to occur and could cause disruption to the management of our business.

We plan to modify or upgrade our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system used for our worldwide operations,
as well as other key software applications used in our global operations. Our ERP system is integral to our ability to
accurately and efficiently maintain our books and records, record our transactions. provide critical information to
our management and prepare our financial statements. Enhancements may eventually become more costly. difficult
and time-consuming to purchase and implement than we currently anticipate. We may encounter unexpecled
difficulties. costs or other challenges with any such modifications, enhancements or upgrades, any of which may
disrupt our business or cause delays in the reporting of our financial results. Corrections and improvements may be
required as we enhance, modify or upgrade our systems, procedures and controls. and could cause us to incur
additional costs and require additional management attention. placing burdens on our internal resources. It we fail to
manage these changes effectively. it could adversely affect our ability to manage our business and our operating
results.

We have identified a material weakness in accounting for income taxes in our internal control over financial
reporting, which, if not remedied effectively, could have an adverse effect on our business.

Management, through documentation, testing and assessment of our internal control over financial reporting
pursuant to the rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and ltem 308 of Regulation S-K. has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
had a material weakness in accounting for income taxes as of March 31, 2007. In response to this material weakness
in our internal control over financial reporting. we are implementing. and may be required to further implement,
additional controls and procedures. Furthermore. we intend to continue improving our internal conirol over financial
reporting. and the implementation and testing of these continued improvements could result in increased cost and
could divert management attention away from operating our business.

In future periods. if the process required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act reveals further material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies, the correction of any such material weakness or significant deficiency could
require additional remedial measures including additional personnel which could be costly and time-consuming. If a
malerial weakness exists as of a future period year-end (including a material weakness identified prior 10 year-end
for which there is an insufficient period of time to evaluate and confirm the effectiveness of the corrections or
related new procedures), our management will be unable to report favorably as of such future period yeuar-end to the
effectiveness of our control over financial reporting. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective in any future period, or if we continue to experience material weaknesses in our internal
control over financial reporting. we could losc investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial
reports. which would have an adverse effect on our stock price and potentially subject us to litigation,




ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
ITEM 2. Properties

As of March 31, 2007, our headquarters and principal marketing and product development operations are located
in Houston, Texas, where we lease approximately 620,900 square feet of office space. We alse maintain

summary of our principal leased properties currently in use is as follows:

Location Area (sq. ft) Lease Expiration
HOUSLOM, TEEAS .ottt e ettt e e sittaae s s ettt esasresee s s srbase s s sbbeaeassnsbesesnnns 620912  June 15, 202]
AUSIIIL, TEXAS oo ettt te ettt eeee e ettt at e e e e e s bbbt anbabaeas 192,258 December 31,2013
Tel Aviv, ISTAE] ..ot s 166,513 Augusi 1, 2012
Sunnyvale, California ... 120,000 April 30, 2009
Punc, INdIa. ..o 116930  September 30, 2014
Pleasanton. Califormim. ... et e e e e e e e e e e e e 77.866  October 31, 2013
N T ) 21 Lo SRRSO 52.305 October 3t, 2008
Amsterdam. The Netherlands .........ooovvoiimmiiirie e 51,968  June 30, 2010
Waltham. MassachusEls ...oeiviercvcrcreirre v v e v e e e e 50.572  August 31, 2009
Egham. United Kingdom.....cccvnininiinii e, 47.235  March 24, 2019

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

On March 23, 2007. we settled all previously outstanding claims with NetlQ. This settlement did not have a
material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

On July 15, 2004, we acquired Marimba, [nc., and Marimba is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of BMC. On
May 3, 2001, a class action complaint alleging violations of the federal securities laws wus filed in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York naming us defendants Marimba, certain of Marimba’s officers
and directors, and certain underwriters of Marimba’s initial public offering. An amended complaint was filed on
April 19, 2002. Murimba and certain of its officers and directors are named in the suit pursuant to Section 11 of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on the basis of an alleged failure to
disclose the underwriters” alleged compensation and manipulative practices in connection with Marimba's initial
public offering. Similar complaints have been filed against over 300 other issuers that have had initial public
offerings since 1998. The individual officer and director defendants entered into tolling agreements and, pursuant to
a Court Order dated October 9, 2002, were dismissed from the litigation withoul prejudice. On February 19, 2003,
the Court granted a Motion to Dismiss the Rule 10b-5 claims against 116 defendants, including Marimba. On June
30, 2003, the Marimba Board of Directors approved a proposed partial settlement with the plaintiffs in this matter.
The settlement would have provided. among other things. a release of Marimba and of the individual officer and
director defendants tor the alleged wrongful conduct in the Amended Complaint in exchange for a guarantee from
Marimba’s insurers regarding recovery from the underwriter defendants and other non-monetary consideration. The
plaintiffs have continued to litigate against the underwriter defendants. The district court directed that the litigation
proceed within a number of “focus cases™ rather than in all of the 310 cases that have been consolidated. The
Marimba case is not one of these focus cases. On October 13, 2004, the district court certified the focus cases as
class actions. The underwriter defendants appealed that ruling. and on December 5. 2006, the Court of Appeals for
the Second Circuit reversed the district court’s class certification decision. On April 6. 2007, the Second Circuit
denied plaintiffs’ petition for rehearing. In light of the Second Circuit opinion, liaison counsel for all issuer
defendants. including Marimba. informed the District Court that this settlement cannot be approved. because the
defined settlement class, like the litigation class, cannot be certified. We cannot predict whether we will be able to
renegotiate a settlement that complies with the Second Circuit’s manduate. Due to the inherent uncertainties of
litigation, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome of the matter.




We are subject to various other legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the
ordinary course of business. We do not believe that the outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse
effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 4, Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during our fourth fiscal quarter.
PART I

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases af Equity
Securities

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trades under the symbol BMC. On May 24,
2007, there were 1,255 holders of record of our common stock.

The following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales prices per share of common stock for the periods
indicated:

Price Range of
Common Stock

High Low

FISCAL 2007

FOUMTN QAT .o e cee s ves e eere v e e v s e e e e eesrteemme e ee et e eseseseseseeeseeseenseesasasaesssessansaeesanees $ 3692 % 29.15

THIE QUAITET ..evecvveeceeeceeecetiee e st b e rrree et esrareesnreeraneesasnan s s meeasnseamseanseseasseenseseassasenssensabesnasnsaan $ 33.67 $ 26.33

SECOMA QUAITET ..c.viiiiiiiiii bbb tb s st s b e es b s s se e beebbr e b e er s e rasasasessesssssassrsnnnsneerrness $ 2799 § 2222

FAESE QUATTET .. ..t v eiuie et ittt ettt ettt bbb e sab et be s bseatsass s esbesrbeerbeerseesseessarasesaresansssnseensnenneenneras $ 2408 % 1990
FISCAL 2006

FOURH QUETTET ..vvivevevieecteets et en s e s et esrarasss e anssaeeaeesantessesserassessesensessaseasensesaensebessansensassas $ 2385 $ 20.51

TRIT QUAITET 1.vveevvirereiee ettt ve e e e s e esesssasssssssessessreraess e rsrarerssaneener s e omere memmensanseassnssenmanen $ 2132 % 1850

R Ton 11 AL T Ty (=) O SRUT $ 2168 $ 17.80

FAPSTQUATIET ...t ettt ev et et e e et e e eee e e e emeeemete et e eseseseeeseeeseeteenbeaatesaneesssesaaesaeeeaneens $ 1848 $ 14.5]

We have never declared or paid dividends to BMC Software stockholders. We do not intend to pay any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain any future earnings otherwise available for cash
dividends on the common stock for use in our operations, for acquisitions and for stock repurchases. Sec
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital
Resources.
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The graph below shows the relative investment performance of our common stock, the S&P 500 index and the
S&P Systems Software Index for the last five years, assuming reinvestment of dividends at date of payment into the
common stock of the indexes. The following graph is presented pursuant to SEC rules and is not meant to be an
indication of our future performance.

COMPARISION OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among BMC Software Inc. The S&P 500 Index
And The S&P Systems Software Index

$160 -
$160 -
§
$
$

i L n 1 o

2 0y o4 das s yo7

,eB5EE3E3

—B— BMC Software, inc. - - — 58P 500 .- -0 - - S4P Systoms Software
* 3100 invested on 3/31/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Approximate Dollor

Total Number of Shares Totul Dollar Yalue Vulue of Shares that
Total Number of Averape Price Purchnsed as Partof 2 of Shares Purchused nray vel be
Shares Paid per Publicly Announced as Port of a Publicly Purchased Under

Prriod Purchased{1) Share Programi{2} Announced Program(2} the Programygl
January 1-31.2007 424400 $ 3451 424,400 $ 14647539 $ 389.777.692
February 1-28, 2007 ... . 1.379.022 § 3260 1.378,900 44,949,300 § 344828392
March 1-31. 2007 ... 2,924,018 3 30.90 2923782 90,358,686 § 254,469,706
Quarterly Total ....... . _4.727.449 $ 372 _4,727.082 $_149.955.525 $ 254,469,706
Fiscal 2007 Tolal oo 20745563 8 2677 20.731.284 $__554,956,682 $ 254469706

(1) Includes repurchases made pursuant to the publicly announced plan in (2} below and repurchases in satisfaction
of tax obligations upon the lapse of restrictions on emplovee restricted stock grants.

{2) Our Board of Directors has authorized a $2.0 billion stock repurchase program ($500.0 million authorized in
April 2000, $500.0 million in July 2002 and $1.0 billion authorized in November 2005). As of March 31, 2007,

there was approximately $254.5 million remaining in this stock repurchase program and the program does not
have an expiration date.

Information regarding our equity compensation plans as of Muarch 31, 2007 is incorporated by reference into
Item 2. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Maters.




ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data presented under the captions Statement of Operations Data
and Balance Sheet Data for, and as of the end of, each of the years in the five-year period ended March 31, 2007, are
derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of BMC Software, Inc. The following business combinations
during the five-year period ended March 31, 2007 were accounted for under the purchase method, und accordingly,
the financial results of these acquired businesses have been included in our financial results below from the
indicated acquisition dates: Identify Software Lid. in May 2006. OpenNetwork Technologies (OpenNetwork}) in
March 2005, Calendra, SA {Calendra} in January 2005, Corosoft Technologies in December 2004, Viadyne
Corporation (Viadyne} in July 2004. Marimba, Inc. (Marimba} in July 2004, Magic Selutions in February 2004, and
IT Masters International S.A. in March 2003.

We have undertaken various restructuring and process improvement initiatives in recent years to reduce costs
through the realignment of resources to focus on growth areas and simplification, standardization and automation of
key business processes. These restructuring and process improvement initiatives included the involuntary
termination of employees, the exiting of leases in certain locations, reducing the square footage required to operate
certain locations and relocating some operations to lower cost facilities. The operating results for fiscal 2007, 2006,
and 2004 below include charges for severance, exit costs and related charges of $44.6 million, $41.0 million and
$124.5 million, respectively, primarily for employee severance and related costs and exited leases. In fiscal 2007, we
incurred $41.6 million of share-based compensation expenses. In fiscal 2006, we incurred $35.5 million of income
tax expense related to the repatriation of foreign earnings. In fiscal 2005. we recorded a settlement of litigation with
Nastel Technologies, Inc. for $11.3 million.

The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financiul
Statements as of March 31, 2007 and 2006. and for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007, the
accompanying notes and the report of the independent registered public accounting firm thereon, which are included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Years Ended March 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In millions, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data;:

TOtal FEVENUR ... $ 15804 5 14984 § 1463.0 § 14187 § 1.3267
Operating income (1088 ). iviviiiireererrerinrrrsereserrseeeseenes 207.3 128.5 23.2 (98.9) 21.2
Nel €arnings (l085) ......covveveeeieieeeeeeeeeeee e $_2159% 1020 $ 753 $ . (268 % 480
Basic earnings {(loss) per share ..., § _106% 047 % 034 $ (01 % 0.20
Diluted earnings {10ss) per share .........cccovveevrerccnennns. § 103§ 047 $._ 034 $_ (0.12) 5 020
Shares used in computing basic eammings (loss) per

ShATE ...t s 2042 2160 2220 __ 2267 _ 2369
Shares used in computing diluted earnings (loss) per

SRATE. Lo s 2102 2189 2240 __ 2267 _ 23719

As of March 31,
2067 2006 2005 2004 2003
{In millions)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ..., $ 8835% 9059 % 8201 $§ 6123 % 5001
Murketable SECUrties oo 623.6 437.8 463.0 600.7 515.2
Working capital ... 556.6 304.0 360.9 445.1 260.9
TOLA] ASSELS c.evceeceieeier ittt 32600 32109 3,342.4 3.067.1 2.888.4
Deferred revenue oo 1,729.0 1.628.3 1.642.9 t4134 1.172.2
Long-term ebligations ... 7.6 14.7 13.6 9.9 —
Stockholders’ equity ..., 1.049.1 1.098.8 1.261.8 1,215.2 1.383.4

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A)} of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should
be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements und notes thereto which appear elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject o
risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ substantially from thosc referred to herein due to a number of
factors, including but not limited to risks described in the section entitled Risk Factors and clsewhere in this Annuad
Report.
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Overview

During fiscal 2007, we continued to significantly improve our performance as we focused on enhancing our
leadership in Business Service Management (BSM). strengthening our mainframe business. and increasing operating
efficiency. Toward these ends. we resegmented our software operations into two software business segments —
Enterprise Service Management (ESM) and Mainframe Service Management (MSM). We believe this
resegmentation will enable us to optimize how we build value and provide greater clarity. accountability and focus
for our business operations. While there are key technology and sales synergies which span both software business
segments. the new structure enables us to more effectively manage to the different dynamics that drive the market in
each segment. Our third business segment, Professional Services, also continues to be an integral part of our
strategy.

Underlying our solid performance in fiscal 2007 is our success in capturing the growing demand for our BSM
solutions. This demand is being driven by key industry trends. First, information technology (IT) budgets, which
consist of hardware, softwure, network and IT labor costs, are under constant scrutiny. [T labor costs, which are a
large component of IT spending, are an area of particular focus. Companies are increasingly realizing that our BSM
solutions enable them to increase productivity and efficiency and save money by automating their I'T processes and
improve how IT shapes, responds and reacts to business decisions and challenges.

To capiure opportunities in the market, we continue to enhance our technology leadership in BSM. We have
developed the only second-generation, completely federated configuration management database -— or CMDB. It is
an essential first step for implementing BSM. The BMC Atrium CMDB is the only all-in-one integrated. federated
solution. We also continue to introduce new offerings that broaden and decpen our BSM solutions portfolio, and to
expand the alliances and partnerships we have with systems integrators and other vendors.

Cur MSM business also contributed o our improved performance during fiscal 2007. While the underlying
market for mainframes is mature. mainframes remain important to our larger enterprise customers because of their
stability, reliability and improvements to total cost of ownership. Our focus is on enhancing our MSM portfolio and
integrating it into our BSM strategy and architecture in order to increase our market share, stabilize revenue, and
improve earmings.

During fiscal 2007, as part of our on-going focus to improve our operating efficiencies, we took further action to
simplify. standardize and automate our key business processes. In connection with these actions, we recorded a
$44.6 million charge that related principally to workforce reductions. We believe there will be additional
opportunities to realize operating efficiencies in future periods.

During fiscal 2007, we continued to experience an increase in the number and magnitude of license transactions
that require ratable recognition of license revenue over the term of the agreement, due 1o an increase in time-based
license agreements and an increase in customer transactions containing other terms and conditions that preclude
upfront license revenue recognition. In addition to executing time-based license agreements, the primary reasons for
license revenue deferrals include but are not limited 1o customer arrangements thai include products for which the
maintenance pricing is based on both discounted and undiscounted license list prices. customer arrangements that
include unlimited licensing rights, customer arrangements that contain rights to future unspecified software products
as part of the maintenance offering and other contractual terms and conditions that require ratable revenue
recognition over the term of the arrangements. We anticipate our transactions will continue to include such contract
tenns that result in deferral of the related license revenue as we expand our offerings to meet customers’ product,
pricing and licensing needs. Once it is determined that license revenue for a particulur contract must be deferred,
based on the contractual terims and application of revenue recognition policies to those terms. we recognize such
license revenue either ratably over the term of the contract or when the revenue recognition criteria are mel. Because
of this, we generally know the timing of the subsequent recognition of license revenue at the time of deferral.
Therefore, the amount of license revenue to be recognized out of the deferred revenue balance in each future quarter
is generally predictable, and our total license revenue to be recognized each quarter becomes more predictable as a
larger percentage of that revenue comes from the deferred license revenue balance.




We continued our commitment to enhance shareholder value by significantly increasing the cash returned to
shareholders through our stock repurchase program. During fiscal 2007, we repurchased approximately 20.7 million
shares for a total value of $555.0 million.

It is important for our investors to understand that a significant portion of our operating expenses is fixed in the
short-term and that we plan a portion of our expense run-rate based on our expectations of future revenue. In
addition, a significant amount of our license transactions are completed during the final weeks and days of each
quarter and. therefore. we generally do not know whether revenue has met our expectations until after the end of the
quarter. If a shortfall in revenue were to occur in any given quarter, there would be an immediate, and possibly
significant, impact to our overall earnings and, most likely, our stock price.

Industry Conditions

In recent years, growth in the global IT market has recovered to a rate roughly twice that of the overall economy.
Software spending continues to grow faster than the overall [T market, with the highest growth projected to occur in
emerging markets such as Latin America, Asia Pacific and eastern Europe. Within the software market, the markets
for our MSM products are forecast to show slight growth, while the ESM markets should continue to grow faster
than the overall software market. However, IT organizations continue to be pressured by their business counterparts
10 lower overall operational costs while increasing support for regulatory compliance, strategic objectives and other
projects focused on delivering increased value to the business. The demands placed on customers’ IT organizations
have resulted in increased pricing pressures on technology vendors. We believe that BSM helps IT organizations
succeed in today’s business environment and differentiates us from our competitors. We recognize that the systems
management software market place remains highly competitive in both of our software business segments, ESM and
MSM.

In the ESM segment. we compete with a variety of software vendors. including large vendors such as IBM, HP
and CA. as well as a number of smaller software vendors. We compelc for new customers and. from time to time,
must compele to maintain our relationships with our current customers.

In the MSM segment, we compete primarily with IBM and CA. The mainframe management software market is
more mature and we must compete to maintain our relationships with our current customers while competing to
displace our competitors” products and win new customers. This competition can lead to pricing pressure and can
affect our margins,

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. On an on-going basis. we make and evaluate estimates
and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, capitalized software development costs, acquired
technology, in-process research and development, goodwill and intangible assets, valuation of investments and
accounting for income taxes. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances; the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
amounts and timing of revenue and expenses, the carrying values of assets, and the recorded amounts of liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates and such estimates
may change if the underlying conditions or assumptions change. We have discussed the development and selection
of the critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors, and the Audit Committee has
reviewed the related disclosures below.

Revenue Recognition

Software license revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the
product has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence
(VSOE) of the fair value of undelivered elements exists. As substantially all of our software licenses are sold in
multiple-clement arrangements that include either maintenance or both maintenance and professional services, we
use the residual method to determine the amount of license revenue to be recognized. Under the residual method,
consideration is allocated 1o undelivered elements based upon VSOE of the fair value of those elements, with the
residual ol the arrangement fee allocated to and recognized as license revenue. We have established VSOE of the
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fair value of maintenance through independent maintenance renewals, which demonstrate a consistent relationship
of pricing maintenance as a percentage of the discounted or undiscounted license list price. VSOE of the fair value
of professional services is established based on daily rates when sold on a stand-alone basis.

We are unable to establish VSOE of fair value for all undelivered elements in arrangements that include software
products for which maintenance pricing is based on both discounted and undiscounted license list prices, certain
arrangements that include unlimited licensing rights and certain arrangements that contain rights to future
unspecified software products as part of the muintenance oftering. If VSOE of fair value of one or more undelivered
elements does not exist, license revenue is deferred and recognized upon delivery of those elements or when VSOE
of fair value can be established, or if the deferral is due to the factors described above, license revenue is recognized
ratably over the maintenance term in the arrangement.

In our time-based license agreements, we are unable to establish VSOE of fair value for undelivered
maintenance elements because the contractual maintenance terms in these arrangements are the same duration as the
license terms, and VSOE of fair value of maintenance cannot be established. Accordingly, license fees in time-based
license arrangements are recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement.

Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance arrangements, which primarily
range from one to three years.

Professional services revenue, which principally relates to implementation, integration and training services
associated with our products, 1s derived under both time-and-material and fixed fee arrangements and in most
instances 1s recognized on a proportional performance basis. If no discernable customer deliverable exists until the
completion of the professional services, we apply the completed performance method and defer the recognition of
professional services revenue until completion of the services. Services that are sold in connection with software
license arrangements generally qualify for separate accounting from the license elements because they do not
involve significant production, modification, or customization of our software products and are not otherwise
considered to be essential to the functionality of such products. In arrangements where the professional services do
not qualify for separate accounting from the license elements, the combined software license and professional
services’ revenue are recognized based on contract accounting using either the percentage-of-completion or
completed-contract method.

We also execute arrangements through resellers, distributors and systems integrators (collectively, channel
partners) in which the channel partners act as the principals in the transactions with the end users of our products
and services. In license arrangements with channel partners, title and risk of loss pass 10 the channel partners upon
execution of our arrangements with them and the delivery of our products to the channel partner. We recognize
revenue from transactions with channel partners on a net basis (the amount actually received by us from the channel
partners) when all other revenue recognition criteria are satisfied. We do not offer right of return, product rotation or
price protection to any of our channel partners.

Revenue from license and maintenance transactions that are financed are generally recognized in the same
manner as those requiring current payment, as we have a history of offering installment contracts to customers and
successfully enforcing original payment terms without making concessions. In arrangements where the fees are not
considered to be fixed or determinable, we recognize revenue when payments become due under the arrangement. If
we determine that a transaction is not probable of collection or a risk of concession exists, we do nol recognize
revenue in excess of the amount of cash received.

Capitalized Software Development Costs

Costs of internally developed software are expensed until the technological feasibility of the software product
has been established. Thereafter, software development costs are capitalized until the product’s general release to
customers in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or
Otherwise Marketed” (SFAS No. 86). Capitalized software development costs are then amortized over the product’s
estimated economic life beginning at the date of general avuilability of the product to our customers. We evaluate
our capitalized software development costs at each balance sheet date to determine if the unamortized balance
related to any given product exceeds the estimated net realizable value of that product. Any such excess is written
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off through accelerated amortization in the quarter it is identified. Determining net realizable value, as defined by
SFAS No. 86, requires that we make estimates and use judgment in quantifying the appropriate amount to write off.
if any. Actual amounts realized from the software products could differ from our estimates. Also, any future changes
to our product portfolio could result in significant increases to our cost of license revenue as a result of the write-off
of capitalized software development costs.

Acquired Technology, In-Process Research and Development, Goodwill and Intangible Assets

When we acquire a business, a portion of the purchase price is typically allocated to acquired technology, in-
process research and development and identifiable intangible assets, such as customer relationships. The excess of
our cost over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
The amounts allocated to acquired technology. in-process research and development and intangible assets represent
our estimates of their fair values at the acquisition date. The fair values are estimated using the expected present
value of future cash flows method of applying the income approach, which requires us to project the related future
revenue and expenses and apply an appropriate discount rate. Once the acquired assets are recorded, we amortize the
acquired technology and intangible assets with finite lives over their estimated lives. All goodwill is tested for
impairment annualty or when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value has been reduced below
carrying value. When conducting impairment assessments. we are required to estimate future cash flows. The
estimates used in valuing all intangible assets, including in-process research and development, are based upon
assumptions believed 1o be reasonable but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Assumptions may be
incomplete or inaccurate. and unanticipated events and circumstances may occur. Accordingly. actual results may
differ from the projected results used to determine fair value and to estimate useful lives. Incorrect estimates of fair
value and/or useful lives could result in future impairment charges and those charges could be material to our
consoliduted results of operations.

Valuation of Investments

Qur investments primarily consist of marketable debt and equity securities. We account for our marketable
investments in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities™.
We regularly analyze our portfolio of marketable securities for impairment. This analysis requires significant
judgment. The primary fuctors considered when determining if an impatrment charge must be recorded because a
decline in the fair value of a marketable security is other than temporary include whether: (i) the fair value of the
investment is significantly below our cost basis: (ii) the financial condition of the issuer of the security has
deteriorated: (iii) if a debt security. it is probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the security; (iv) the decline in fair value has existed for an extended period of time; (v} if a
debt security, such security has been downgraded by a rating agency: and {vi} we have the intent and ability to retain
the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value. We have
investment policies which are designed to ensure that our assets are invested in capital-preserving securities.
However, from time to time, issuer-specific and market-specific events could warrant an impairment write down. As
the vast majority of our marketable sccurities are investmeni-grade debt securities, we anticipate that any future
impairment charges related to these investments will not have o material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position or results of operations. Marketable securities with a fair value below our cost as of March 31, 2007 is
discussed in greater detail in Note 3 1o the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for the effect of income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™
(SFAS No. 109). Under SFAS No. 109, income tax expense or benefit is recognized for the amount of taxes payable
or refundable for the current year's results and for deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statemenlts or tax returns. We are
required to make significant assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine (i) our income tax expense or
benefit. (ii) our deferred tax assets and liabilities and (iii) whether a valuation allowance should be recorded against
our deferred tax assets. Our judgments, assumptions and estimates take into account current tax laws, our
interpretation of current tax laws and possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by domestic
(including state) and foreign authorities. These factors significantly impact the amounts we record related to income
taxes. Our assumptions, judgments and estimates related to the realizability of our deferred tax assets take into
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account positive and negative evidence about possible sources of taxable income available under the tax laws to
realize the tax benefit, including projections of the amount and category of futurc taxable income and the amounts
that may be realized utilizing prudent and feasible tax-planning strategies. Actual operating results and the
underlying amount and category of taxable income in future years could differ from our estimates and the related
tmpact on our income tax expense or benefit could materially affect our consolidated resulis of operations.

We are subject to corporate income tax audits in multiple jurisdictions and our income tax expense includes
amounts intended to satisfy income tax assessments that may result from the examination of our tax returns that
have been filed in these jurisdictions. Determining the income tax expense for these polential assessments reguires
significant judgments and estimates. We evaluate our income tax contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 3,
“Accounting for Contingencies” (SFAS No. 5) and have accrued for income tax contingencies that meet both the
probable and estimable criteria of SFAS No. 5. We also have various domestic and foreign income tax exposures
that do not meet the probable and/or estimable criteria of SFAS No. 5 and therefore no tax expense has been
accrued, The amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of these exposures could be materially different from the
amounts previously included in our income tax expense and therefore could have a material impact on our
consolidated results of operations,

Acquisitions

In May 2006, we acquired Identity Software Ltd. for $150.0 million in cash. This acquisition provides additional
solutions to our transaction management strategy, which provides customers with enhanced application and problem
resolution capabilities, enabling them to pinpoint the cause of transaction breakdowns.

In January 2005. we acquired Calendra for $34.0 million in cash. and in March 2005, we acquired the assets of
OpenNetwork for cash of $18.4 million plus the assumption of certain liabilities of OpenNetwork. These two
acquisitions completed our transition from being a point product provider in the identity management market to a
complete suite provider. The combination of our CONTROL-SA® provisioning solution with Calendra’s state-of-
the-urt business process centric workflow and directory management capabilities. eliminated integration issues
typically faced by customers purchasing individual components from multiple vendors. The OpenNetwork
acquisition expanded our ldentity Management product suite to include browser-based authentication and
authorization solutions that enable customers to securely manage access to Web-based applications across multiple
business environments,

In July 2004. we acquired Marimba for $230.3 million in cash plus stock options valued at $20.9 million. This
acquisition provided new and extended capabilities to our BSM offerings in the areas of change and configuration
management, security management and infrastructure management, enabling our customers to rapidly respond to
changing business requirements by re-purposing, re-provisioning and updating IT resources o achieve required IT
configurations.

These transactions. along with various other less signiticant technology acquisitions. have been accounted for
using the purchase accounting method. and accordingly. the financial results for these entities have been included in
our consolidated financial results since the applicable acquisition dates.

Historical Information
Historical performance should not be viewed as indicative of future performance, as there can be no assurance

that operating income or net earnings will be sustained at these levels. For a discussion of factors affecting operating
results, see Risk Factors above.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the fiscal years indicated, the percentages that selected items in the

accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations bear to total revenue.

Percentage of
Total Revenute
Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Revenue:
T <T 1 =TSR OVOUPO 360.1% 35.2% 37.4%
MAINEIINCE o vttt e v et ee e e e eeeaanemnes s nmnnees 58.1% 58.6% 56.3%
Professional SEIVICES .............ccccecieeeerersrrersrersrrgeeieeesmeseenenes s 5.8% 6.2% 6.3%
TOAL TEVENUE ..ottt e s e e e s ein e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Operating Expenses:
CoSt Of lICENSE TEVENLIE ..ooviiiiiiieciv et et e sne e 6.3% 8.2% 9.4%
Cost of MaINtenance FeVEMUE ..........ceeeriiie e screes 11.1% 11.7% 12.8%
Cost of professional services (eVenUe ... 6.1% 5.6% 6.3%
Selling and marketing exXpenses...........con, 32.8% 33.5% 38.0%
Research and development €Xpenses ..o 13.3% 14.0% 14.9%
General and administrative eXpenses .. ..o, 12.8% 13.6% 14.6%
Amortization of intangible assets..........o i 1.7% 22% |.4%
Severance, exit costs and related charges ..o 2.8% 2. 7% 0.2)%
In-process research and development ... — — 0.3%
Impairment of goodwill ... — — 0.3%
Settlement Of BHZAHOM. ........oiiiiiiecin e e — — 0.8%
Total Operating EXPenSes....cooeveerererrvrerrrr e serer e eeens 86.9% 91.4% 98.4%
OPerating iNCOME .....cccocooriiiiiiiiii e e 13.1% 8.6% L.6%
Other income, net:
Interest and other INCOME, NEL......ccveicviciier e 5.5% 5.0% 5.4%
INEEIESt @XPENSE...cvireeiciiiiii it {0.1Y% (0.0)% (0.1%
Gain (loss) on marketable securities and other investments ......... 0.5% 0.1% (0.2)%
Total other iNCOME., NMEE ......ovree et e 5.9% 5.0% 5.1%
Earnings before income taxes ... 19.0% 13.6% 6.7%
Provision fOr iNCOME LAXES ..o.oiveeceieiceeceveeeeie e es e s ssrn s s rmensneees 5.4% 6.8% 1.6%
NELEAMMINES ...eeeiici i 13.7% 6.8% 5.1%
Revenue

The following table provides information regarding license and maintenance revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and
2005. All prior periods presented have been reclassified to reflect this new structure and conform with our internal
reorganization into already defined Enterprise Service Munagement and Mainframe Service Management operating

segments.
Software License Revenue Percentage Change
2007 2006
Years Ended March 31, Compared to Compared to
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005
(In millions}
Enterprise Service Management...... $ 3301 $ 2845 $ 2916 16.0% (2.4)%
Mainframe Service Management..... 239.7 242.5 2549 (1.2)% (4.9%
Total software license revenue...... $ 569.8 $_527.0 $ 546.5 8.1% 3.6)%




Software Maintenance Revenue Percentage Change

2007 2006
Years Ended March 31, Compared to Compared to
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005
(I millions)
Enterprise Service Management....... $ 480.1 § 4507 $ 4196 6.5% 7.4%
Mainframe Service Management..... 438.7 428.1 404.7 2.5% 5.8%
Total softwure maintenance
FEVENUE L.vvvererereeeeeeceveseseseeees $ 9188 $_878.8 § 8243 4.6% 6.6%
Total Software Revenue Percentage Change
2007 2006
Years Ended March 31, Compared to Compared to
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005
(In millions)
Enterprise Service Management...... $ 8102 $ 7352 $ 7112 10.2% 3.4%
Mainframe Service Manugement..... 078.4 67006 639.6 1.2% 1.7%
Total software revenue........... $ 1,488.6 $ 14058 $_1.370.8 5.9% 2.6%

Software License Revenue

Total software license revenue was $569.8 million. $527.0 million and $546.5 million tor fiscal 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

The increase in total software license revenue of 8.1%, or $42.8 million, in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal
2006 was attributable to license revenue increases in the ESM segment, partially offset by a slight decline in license
revenue in the MSM segment, as discussed below. Of the license transactions recorded. the percentage of license
revenue recognized upfront decreased from 59% during fiscal 2006 o 51% during fiscal 2007. Recognition of
license revenue that was deferred in prior periods increased $38.5 million for fiscal 2007, as compared to the prior
year period. During fiscal 2007, we closed 89 transactions with license values over $1 million, with a total license
value of $243.1 million. compared with 66 transactions with license values over $! million, with a total license
value of $165.3 million, in fiscal 2006.

The decrease in total software license revenue of 3.6%. or $19.5 million, in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal
2005 was attributable to license revenue decreases in both the ESM and MSM segments, as discussed below. Of the
license transactions recorded. the percentage of license revenue recognized upfront decreased from 63% during
fiscal 2005 to 59% during fiscal 2006. Recognition of license revenue that was deferred in prior periods increased
$48.5 million for fiscal 2006, as compared to the prior year period. During fiscal 2000, we closed 66 transactions
with license values over $1 million, with a total license value of $165.3 million, compared with 86 ransactions with
license values over $1 million, with a total license value of $237.7 million, in fiscal 2005.

ESM license revenue represented 57.9%. or $330.1 million, 54.0%. or $284.5 million, and 53.4%. or $291.6
million, of our total license revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. ESM license revenue for fiscal
2007 increased 16.0%, or $45.6 million, from fiscal 2006, primarily due to increased demand tor our £SM products,
principally our BSM solutions, including incremental license revenue resulting from our acquisition of Identify
Software in the first quarter of fiscal 2007, as well as an increase in the recognition of previously deferred license
revenue period over period, partially offset by an increase in the level of new license transactions whose revenue are
being deferred into future periods. ESM license revenue for fiscal 2006 decreased 2.4%, or $7.1 million. from fiscal
2005, primarily due to a decrease in license transactions year over year resulting from competitive pressures in the
markets we scrve,

MSM license revenue represented 42.1%. or $239.7 million, 46.0%, or $242.5 million, and 46.6%. or $254.9
million. of our total license revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, MSM license revenue for fiscal
2007 remained relatively flat as compared to fiscal 2006, decreasing 1.2%. or $2.8 million. This fiscal 2007 decrease
was attributable primarily to an increase in the level of new license transactions whose revenue are being deferred
into future periods, partially offset by a higher volume of license transactions executed and an increase in the
recognition of previously deferred license revenue period over period. MSM license revenue for fiscal 2006
decreased 4.9%, or $12.4 million, from fiscal 2005, primarily due to a decrease in license transactions executed
period over period, partially offset by an increase in the recognition of previously deferred license revenue period
over period. The historical decreases in MSM license revenue are indicative of a mature and highly competitive
markel.
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For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 20035, our recognized license revenue was impacted by the changes in our deferred
license revenue balance as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In millions)
Deferrals of lICEnSe FEVENUE ..vivviveieie e ceeseeseesessresse s s e e eenenee %5 (3148 % (2293) § (226.1)
Recognition from deferred license revenue . 2427 204.2 155.7
Net impact on recognized lICENSE TEVENUC. .....coceveiveviares e e e $ (72108 (25.) $ (70.4)

Deferred license revenue balance at end of year ..., § 5044 § 4323 § 4072

The primary reasons for license revenue deferrals include: customer transactions that contain certain complex
contractual terms and conditions, customer transactions which include preducts for which the maintenance pricing is
based on both discounted and undiscounted license list prices, certain arrangements which include unlimited
licensing rights, time-based licenses which are recognized over the term of the arrangement. customer transaclions
which include products with differing maintenance periods and other transactions for which we do not have or are
not able to determine vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value of the maintenance and/or professional
services. All of these instances cause the license revenue to be deferred. The contract terms and conditions that
result in deferral of revenue recognition for a given transaction result from arm’s length negotiations between us and
our customers. We anticipate our transactions will continue to include such contract terms that result in deferral of
the related license revenue as we expand our offerings to meet customers’ product. pricing and licensing needs.

Once it is determined that license revenue for a particular contract must be deferred, based on the contractual
terms and application of revenue recognition policies to those terms. we recognize such license revenue either
ratably over the term of the contract or when the revenue recognition criteria are met. Because of this. we generally
know the timing of the subsequent recognition of license revenue at the time of deferral. Therefore, the amount of
license revenue to be recognized out of the deferred revenue balance in each future quarter is generally predictable,
and our total license revenue to be recognized each quarter becomes more predictable as a larger percentage of that
revenue comes from the deferred license revenue balance. As of March 31, 2007, the deferred license revenue
balance was $504.4 million and had an estimated remaining life of approximately three years. As additional licensc
revenue is deferred in future periods. the amounts to be recognized in future periods will increase. A summary of the
estimated deferred license revenue we expect to recognize in future periods as of March 31, 2007 follows (in
milltons):

Fiscal 2008 ... § 2389
Fiscal 2009 . % 1350
FISCAl 20710 AN CREIE IO ovee e eeeser e e e e eeeee e e e e e e e e e emaeesseemeeeeaasaeesmanmee e e eeeeekessaasbbeessmassseseasssanesaasssnnenaanns $ 1305

Software Maintenance Revenue

Total software maintenance revenue was $918.8 million. $878.8 million and $824.3 million for fiscal 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

Total software maintenance revenue for fiscal 2007 increased 4.6%, or $40.0 million, from fiscal 2006. Total
software maintenance revenue for fiscal 2006 increased 6.6%, or $54.5 million, from fiscal 2005. These increases
were attributable to increases in both ESM and MSM maintenance revenue, as discussed below.

ESM mainienance revenue represented 52.3%, or $480.1 million, 51.3%, or $450.7 million, and 50.9%, or
$419.6 million. of our total maintenance revenue for {iscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. ESM maintenance
revenue for fiscal 2007 increased 6.5%. or $29.4 million, as compared to fiscal 2006. and for fiscal 2006 increased
7.4%. or $31.1 million, as compared to fiscal 2005, The fiscal 2007 and 2006 increases were attributable to the
growth in our installed ESM customer license base, including additional maintenance revenue in fiscal 2007
resulting from our acquisition of Identify Software in the first quarter of fiscal 2007,

MSM maintenance revenue represented 47.7%, or $438.7 million, 48.7%, or $428.1 million, and 49.1%, or
$404.7 million. of our total maintenance revenue for fiscal 2007. 2006 and 2005. respectively. MSM muaintenance
revenue for fiscal 2007 increased 2.5%. or $10.6 million, as compared to fiscal 2006, and for fiscal 2006 increased
5.8%, or $23.4 million, us compared to fiscal 2005, The fiscal 2007 and 2006 increases were attributable primarily
to the expansion of our customer license base.
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As of March 31, 2007, the deferred maintenance revenue balance was $1,202.4 million. As new customers are
added and/or current contracts are renewed and additional maintenance revenue is deferred in future periods, the
amounts to be recognized in future periods will increase. A summary of the estimated deferred maintenance revenue
we expect to recognize in future periods as of March 31, 2007 follows (in millions):

IS 2008 e e ettt e e At a e e ettt earre b aeerbereerrraats $ 6106
FaSCA] 200000 s ire e e s eseeeee s esaaseeesresssreesanee e e e e emee e eeeee e e e e e e r e e e e e e e ea e e e e e e eaeetaA At aeab s et et e e bt e e b e rteeeeineean $ 3268
FISCAL 20 10 B MO AT T ©.veveeeereeeet e e es e et e e eeaes e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et eem e e e s eaeemaneernee e e e eemeneme e eam e e eemeseeneeaaneean $§ 2650

Domestic vs. International Revenue

Percentage Change

2007 20006
Years Ended March 31, Compared to Compared to
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005
(In millions}
License:
Domeslic orvieeeesieie e $ 2795 $ 2632 $ 2562 6.2% 2.7%
International ..., 290.3 263.8 290.3 10.0% 9.1)Y%
Total license revenue....... 569.8 527.0 546.5 8.1% (3.6)%
Maintenance:
DomeStC .ooovveiineeieeeeeeeeeene 5074 490.0 462.6 3.6% 5.9%
International ......................... 411.4 388.8 361.7 5.8% 1.5%
Total maintenance
TEVENUE «oeeieeieeeeeeenaes 918.8 878.8 324.3 4.6% 6.6%
Professional services:
Domestic ..oocoovviiiieiiiieeen, 36.6 41.2 40.2 {(11.2)% 2.5%
International ........................ 55.2 51.4 52.0 .49 (1.2)%
Total professional
services revenue ............ 91.8 92.6 92.2 (0.93% 0.4%
Total revenue................... $ 1,5804 $ 14984 $ 14630 5.5% 2.4%

License Revenue

Our domestic operations generated 49.1% or $279.5 million, 49.9%, or $263.2 million. and 46.9%. or $256.2
million, of license revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively. Domestic license revenue increased 6.2%,
or $16.3 million, from fiscal 2006 1o fiscal 2007, and increased 2.7%, or $7.0 million, from fiscal 2005 to fiscal
2006. The increase in domestic license revenue in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 was attributable primarily
to an increase in ESM license revenue resulting from increased demand for our ESM products, principally our BSM
solutions, and incremental revenue associated with our acquisition of Identify Software. The increase in domestic
license revenue in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 was attributable primarily to an increase in MSM license
revenue.

International license revenue represented 50.9%. or $290.3 million, 50.1%, or $263.8 million, and 53.1%, or
$290.3 million, of license revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. International license revenue
increased 10.0%, or $26.5 million, from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, primarily due to an increase in ESM license
revenue in our European and Asia Pacific markets resulting from increased demand for our ESM products,
principally our BSM solutions, and incremental revenue associated with our acquisition of Identify Software.
International license revenue decreased 9.1%, or $26.5 milhion, from fiscal 2005 1o fiscal 2006, due to decreases in
both ESM and MSM license revenue primarily in our European and Asia Pacific markets.
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Muaintenance Reveniie

Our domestic operations generated 55.2%, or $507.4 million, 55.8%, or $490.0 million, and 56.1%, or $462.6
million, of maintenance revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 20035, respectively. Domestic maintenance revenue
increased 3.6%, or $17.4 million, from fiscal 2006 1o fiscal 2007, primarily due to an increase in ESM maintenance
revenue resulting from growth in our installed ESM customer license base, including incremental maintenance
revenue associated with our acquisition of Identify Software. Domestic maintenance revenue increased 5.9%, or
$27.4 million, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2006, primarily due to increases in both MSM and ESM maintenance
revenue resulting from growth in our installed customer base.

Our international operations generated 44.8%, or $411.4 million, 44.2%, or $388.8 million, and 43.9%, or
$361.7 million, of maintenance revenue for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. International maintenance
revenue increased 5.8%, or $22.6 million, from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, and increased 7.5%, or $27.1 million,
from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006. The year over year increases were attributable to increases in both MSM and ESM
maintenance revenue resulting from growth in our installed customer base, principally in our European market.

Foreign currency exchange rate changes, including the impact of hedging, resulted in a favorable impact to the
growth in international license revenue of 3.0%, or $7.9 million, from fiscal 2006 to 2007 and an unfavorable impact
to the growth in international license revenue of (.3%, or $0.9 million, from fiscal 2005 to 2006.

Professional Services Revenue

Professional services revenue remained relatively flat in fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2003,
decreasing by 0.9%, or $0.8 million from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, and increasing by 0.4%, or $0.4 million, from
fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006. The decrease in fiscal 2007 professional services revenue as compared to fiscal 2006 was
attributable to an 11.2%, or $4.6 million, decrease in domestic professional services revenue, offset by a 7.4%, or
$3.8 million, increase in international professional services revenue. The increase in fiscal 2006 professional
services revenue as compared to fiscal 2005 was attributable 10 a 2.5%, or $1.0 million, increase in domestic
professional services revenue, offset by a 1.2%, or $0.6 million, decrease in international professional services
revenue.

Operating Expenses
Percentage Change
2007 2006
Years Ended March 31, Compared to Compared to
2007 2006 2005 2006 2005
(In millions)
Cost of license revenue............ $ 99 4 $ 1233 $ 1374 (19.4)% (10.3)%
Cost of maintenance revenue... 175.1 175.0 187.6 1% (6.1%
Cost of professional services
FEVENMUE .oiiiiieeie e 95.8 83.5 91.8 14.7% 9.00%
Selling and marketing.............. 518.1 501.6 556.3 33% (9.8)%
Research and development ...... 2107 209.1 2174 0.8% (3.8)%
General and administrative...... 202.8 203.6 213.1 (0.4Y% (4.5)%
Amortization of intangible
ASSELS et ettt 26.6 328 20,7 (18.9Y% 58.5%
Severance, exit costs and
related charges. ... 44.6 41.0 (3.5) 8.8% *
In-process research and
development ... — — 4.0 * *
Impairment of goodwill ........... — — 37 * *
Settlement of litigation ............ — — 11.3 * *
Total operating expenses ......... $ 13731 $ 1,369.9 $ 14398 0.2% (4.9Y%

*  — not meaningful




Cost of License Revenue

Cost of license revenue is primarily comprised of (i) the amortization of capitalized software costs for internally
developed products, (ii} amortization of acquired technology for products acquired through business combinations,
(iii) license-based royalties to third parties and (iv) production and distribution costs for initial product licenses. For
fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2003, cost of license revenue represented 6.3%, or $99.4 million, 8.2%, or $123.3 million, and
9.4%, or $137.4 million, of total revenue, respectively, and 17.4%, 23.4% and 25.1% of license revenue,
respectively, Cost of license revenue decreased 19.4%, or $23.9 million. from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, primarily
due to the conclusion of the amortization of certain acquired technologics and a reduction in the amortization of
capitalized software development costs, partially offset by the amortization of acquired technology related to
Identify Software. Cost of license revenue decreased 10.3%, or $14.1 million, from fiscal 2005 1o fiscal 2006,
primarily due to the conclusion of the amortization of certain acquired technologies.

The following table summarizes the amounts of software development costs capitalized and amortized during
fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005. Amontization for these periods includes amounts accelerated for certain software
products that were not expected to generate sufficient future revenue to realize the carrying value of the assets.

Years Ended March 3)

2007 2006 2005 _
(In millions)
Software development costs capitalized .........cooovvvviioiieniniii s $ (554) % (36.7) § (61.7)
TOtAl AIMIOTTIZATION. ... voe e ecrrrrrrrr e s e e rres i rrraras s s s s rs bbb rr et e e e s ra s b b abea e s s s s ssssababasaeseesansssisnss 64.2 71.1 74.9
Net impact On OPErating EXPENSES v.vvvvrererisnseioierreeiarmrserosasiniesssesessessesessessotsamressesenns S B8 $ 144 % 132
Accelerated amortization included in total amortization above........occovvvveveeveviieeeceis $§ 1.1 $ 08 % 28

Cost of Maintenance Revenue

The cost of maintenance revenue is primarily comprised of the costs associaled with the customer support and
research and development personnel that provide maintenance and support services to our customers. For fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005, cost of maintenance revenue represented 11.1%, or $175.1 million, 11.7%, or $175.0 million,
and 12.8%, or $187.6 million, of total revenue, respectively, and 19.1%, 19.9% and 22.8% of maintenance revenue,
respectively. Cost of maintenance revenue remained flat from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007. Cost of maintenance
revenue decreased 6.7%, or $12.6 million, from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006, primarily due to headcount reductions
incurred during fiscal 2006 relating to restructuring and process improvement initiatives.

Cost of Professional Services Revenue

Cost of professional services revenue primarily include salaries and related personnel costs and third-party fees
associated with implementation, integration and education services that we provide to our customers, and the related
infrastructure to support this business. For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, cost of professional services revenue
represented 6.1%, or $95.8 million, 5.6%, or $83.5 million, and 6.3%., or $91.8 miilion., of total revenue,
respectively, and 104.4%. 90.2% and 99.6% of professional services revenue, respectively. Cost of professional
services revenue increased 14.7%, or $12.3 million, from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, primarily as a result of an
increase in professional service enablement personnel due to increased customer demand for BSM services and an
increase in third party consulting fees. Cost of professional services revenue decreased 9.09%, or $8.3 million, {rom
fiscal 2005 to 2006, primarily due to a reduction in professional services personnel.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses primarily include salaries and related personnel costs, sales commissions and
costs associated with advertising, industry trade shows and sales seminars. For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2003, selling
and marketing expenses represented 32.8%, or $518.1 million, 33.5%, or $501.6 million, and 38.0%. or $556.3
million, of total revenue, respectively. Selling and marketing expenses increased 3.3%, or $16.5 million. from fiscal
2006 10 fiscal 2007, primarily due to the addition of share-based compensation and an increase in travel and
marketing campaign expenditures. Selling and marketing expenses decreased 9.8%. or $54.7 million, from fiscal
20035 to fiscal 2006, primarily due to a decrease in personnel and related costs associated with a reduction in sales
and marketing personnel.
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Research and Development

Research and devclopment expenses primarily include salaries and related personncl costs of software
developers and development support personnel. including software programmers, testing and quality assurance
personnel and writers of technical documentation such as produet manuals and installation guides. These expenses
also include computer hardware/software costs. telecommunications and personnel expenses necessary 10 maintain
our research and development data processing center. For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, research and development
expenses represented 13.3%. or $210.7 million. 14.0%. or $209.1 million. and 14.9%. or $217.4 million, of 10tal
revenue, respectively. Rescarch and development expenses increased 0.8%. or $1.6 million, from fiscal 2007 to
fiscal 2006, primarily due to additional share-based compensation. partially offset by a decrease in personnel and
related costs associated with a reduction in research and development personnel. Research and developmen
expenses decreased 3.8%. or $8.3 million, from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006. primarily due to a decrease in personnel
and related costs associated with a reduction in research and development personnel.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses primarily include salaries and related persommel costs of executive
management. finance and accounting, IT, facilities management, legal and human resources personnel. Other costs
included in general and administrative expenses include fees paid for outside legul and accounting services,
consulting projects and insurance. During fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005. general and administrative expenses
represented 12.8%. or $202.8 million, 13.6%, or $203.6 million, and 14.6%, or $213.1 million, of total revenue,
respectively. General and administrative expenses decreased 0.4%. or $0.8 million. from fiscal 2006 1o fiscal 2007
primarily due to lower professional consultant fees associated with our Sarbanes-Oxley section 404 compliance
efforts and a decrease in employee separation charges and other personnel-related cost including travel and
recruitment. partially offset by additional share-based compensation. General and administrative expenses decreased
4.5%, or $9.5 million, from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006, primarily due to the fiscal 2005 write-off of $11.4 million in
capitalized costs associated with an internal-use information technology project that was terminated before
completion and other internal-use software. partially offset by increased third-party consulting expenditures during
fiscal 2006.

Amertization of Imtangible Assets

Amortization of intangible assets consists principally of the amortization of finite-lived customer relationship
and tradename intangible assets recorded in connection with acquisitions accounted for by the purchase method of
accounting. Amortization of intangible assets decreased 18.9%, or $6.2 million, from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007,
primarily due to conclusion of amortization of certain intangibles at the end of fiscal 2006, partially offset by
incremental amortization associated with intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition of Identify
Software in May 2006. Amortization of intangible assets increased 58.5%. or $12.1 million. from fiscal 2005 to
fiscal 2006, primarily duc to a change in the estimated economic useful lives of certain previously acquired
tradenames from indefinite to between one and two years, partially offset by the conclusion of amortization of
certain other intangibles.

Severance, Exit Costs and Related Charges

We have undertaken various restructuring and process improvement initiatives in recent years to reduce costs
through the realignment of resources to focus on growth areas and simplification. standardization and automation of
key busingss processes. As a result of these initiatives. we involuntarily terminated appreximately 800 and 700
employees during fiscal 2004 and 2006, respectively. and identified for termination approximately 700 employecs
during fiscal 2007. These workforce reductions are across all functions and geographies and affected employees
were. or will be. provided cash separation packages. The workforce reductions have reduced selling and research
and development expenses in product areas that were not realizing our profitability and growth goals, as well as
general and administrative expenses. Additionally. during these same periods we exited leases in certain locations,
reduced the square footage required to operate some locations and relocated some operations to lower cost facilities.




The process improvement initiatives started in fiscal 2007 will continue through fiscal 2008. By the end of fiscal
2008, we estimate that the restructuring and process improvement initiatives undertaken during fiscal 2007, as well
as those expected o be undertaken during fiscal 2008, will result in an annual savings of $55 to $65 miilion
compared to fiscal 2007 expense levels.

In-Process Research and Development

During fiscal 2005, we wrote off acquired in-process research and development (IPR&D) totaling $4.0 million in
connection with the acquisitions of Viadyne. Calendra and OpenNetwork. The amounts allocated to [PR&D
represent the estimated fair values, based on risk-adjusted cash flows and historical costs expended, related to
incomplete research and development projects. At the dates of acquisition, the development of these projects had not
yet reached technological feasibility and the research and development in progress had no alternative future uses.
Accordingly. these costs were expensed as of the acquisition dates. There were no write offs of IPR&D in
connection with our business acquisitions during fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2007,

In making the purchase price allocations to IPR&D. we considered present value calculations of income.
analyses of project accomplishments and remaining outstanding items, assessments of overall contributions, as well
as project risks. The values assigned to in-process research and development were determined by estimating the
costs to develop the acquired technology into commercially viable products. estimating the resulting net cash flows
from the projects. and discounting the net cash flows to their present value. The revenue projections used to value
the in-process research and development were based on estimates of relevant market sizes and growth factors.
expected trends in technology, and the nature and expected timing of new product introductions by us and our
competitors. The resulting net cash flows from such projects are bused on our estimates of cost of sales, operating
expenses and income taxes from such projects,

A risk-adjusted discount rate was applied to the cash flows of each of the products’ projected income streams.
These discount rates assume that the risk of revenue streams for new technology is higher than that of existing
revenue streams. The discount rates used in the present value calculations were generally derived from a weighted
average cost of capital, adjusted upward 1o reflect the additional risks inherent in the development life cycle,
including the useful life of the technology. profitability levels of the technology and the uncertainty of technology
advances that are known at the transaction date. Product-specific risk includes the stages of completion of each
product. the complexity of the development work completed to date, the likelihood of achieving technological
leasibility and market acceptance.

The estimates used in valuing IPR&D were based upon assumptions believed 1o be reasonable but which are
inherently uncertain and unpredictable. Assumptions may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and
circumstances may occur. Accordingly, actual results may differ from the projected results used to determine fair
value.

Impairment of Goodwill

We test our goodwill for impairment during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. after the annual planning
process is substantially complete. In connection with our fiscal 2005 analysis. we determined that revised future
profitability and cash flow projections associated with our professional services segment were insufficient to support
the carrying value of this reporting unit. principally as a result of reduced operating margins in fiscal 2005 which
were in part attributable 1o the increased use of third-party implementation services. As a result. goodwill of $3.7
million assigned to the professional services segment was determined to be fully impaired during fiscal 2005. The
fair value of the professional services reporting unit was estimated using the expected present value of future cash
flows by application of the income approach. There were no impairments of goodwill in fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006.

Settlement of Litigation

During fiscal 2003, we settled a previous dispute with Nastel Technologies, Inc. for $11.3 million.




Other Income, net

Other income. net. consists primarily of interest eamed on cash. cash equivalents, marketable securities and
finance receivables that have not been transferred to third parties, rental income on owned fucilities, gains and losses
on marketable securities and other investiments and interest expense on capital leases. Other income, net was $93.3
million. $75.3 million and $75.0 million for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Other income, net, increased
23.9%. or $18.0 million, from fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2007, primarily due to realized gains on investments, higher
interest income generated from higher average investment portfolio balances earning higher yields and the impact of
certain derivative instruments not designated as hedges for accounting purposes. This was partially offset by a
reduction in lease income resulting from the sale of our headquarters campus. Other income, net remained relatively
constant from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006, reflecting primarily an increase in interest income generated from higher
average investment portfolio balances earning higher yields in fiscal 2006, offset by the non-recurrence of an $8.0
million gain realized on the sale of previously securitized finance receivables in fiscal 2005,

Provision for Income Taxes

We recorded income tax expense of $84.7 million, $101.8 million and $22.9 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and
2005. respectively. Our effective tax rates were 28%, 50% and 23% for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Our effective tax rate is impacted primarily by the tax effect attributable to our forcign earnings (net of U.S. tax
consequences), changes in the valuation allowance recorded against our deferred 1ax assets, benefits attributable to
the extraterritorial income exclusion and a non-recurring adjustment to our aggregate net liabilities for income taxes
in fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2007, the most significant item impacting our effective tax rate was a favorable rate
differential on our forcign earnings of $18.3 million. In fiscal 2006. the most significant item impacting our effective
tax rate was a 1ax expense of approximately $35.5 million related to the repatriation of approximately $708.8 million
of qualified earnings under the applicable provisions of the American Jobs creation Act of 2004. In fiscal 2005, the
most significant item impacting our effective 1ax rate was a 1ax benefit of $26.7 million recorded as a result of the
reversal of a valuation allowance that was previously recorded against our deferred tax assets. The other significant
item impacting our fiscal 2005 effective tax rate was an expense of $11.1 millton to adjust our aggregale net
liabilities for income taxes. withholding taxes and income tax exposures that were found to be understated after an
analysis of all of our income tax accounts in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. For a detailed analysis of the differences
between the statutory and effective income tax rates, see Note 8 of the accompanying Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

At March 31, 2007, we had approximately $1.5 billion in cash, cash equivalents and marketable security
investments. approximately 42% of which was held by our international subsidiaries and was largely generated from
our international operations. Our international operations have generated approximately $139.1 million of
cumulative earnings that we have determined will be invested indefinitely in our international operations. Were such
earnings to be repatriated, we would incur a U.S. Federal income tax liability that is not currently accrued in our
financial statements. While our marketable securities are primarily investment grade and highly liquid, a significant
portion of our marketable securities portfolio is invested in securities with maturities beyond one year. While
typically yielding greater returns, they also reduce reported working capital.

We believe that our existing cash and markelable securities investment balances and funds generated from
operating and investing activities will be sufficient to meet our working and other capital requirements for the
foreseeable future. In the normal course of business, we evaluate the merits of acquiring technology or businesses,
or establishing strategic relationships with or investing in these businesses. We may elect to use available cash and
marketable security investments to fund such activities in the future. In the event additional needs for cash arise. we
might find it advantageous (o utilize third-party financing sources based on factors such as our then avallable cash
and its source (i.e.. cash held in the United States of America versus international locations), the cost of financing
and our internal cost of capital.
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Our cash flows were as follows during fiscal 2007. 2006 and 2005:

Years Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In millions)
Net cash provided by operating actiVIHEs .......ooiriiiiiiiii e $ 42001 % 4209 § 5019
Net cash used in INVESHNE QCHVILES .ooooiiiiiiiicne et e e e s e en e (405.9) (60.0y  (234.6)
Net cash used in financing activities........cooveii e (44.0y  (278.1) (63.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ..o 7.4 3.0 4.2
Net increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ..., 5224y % 858 % 2078

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our primary method for funding operations and growth has been through cash flows generated from operating
activities. Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $0.8 million during fiscal 2007 and decreased $81.0
million during fiscal 2006 as compared to the prior years. For fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006, the increase in
net earnings before non-cash expenses (principally depreciation. amortization and share-based compensation) was
mostly offset by the decrease in financed payables. The decrease for fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 was
attributable to increased cash paid for exit costs year-over-year, plus cash paid for taxes in {iscal 2006 related to our
repatriation of foreign earnings slightly offset by settlement of litigation 1n fiscal 2005.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash vsed in investing activities increased $345.9 million during fiscal 2007 and decreased $174.6 million
during fiscal 2006 as compared to the prior year. The increase for fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 was
attributable primarily to a $135.8 million increase in cash paid for technology acquisitions and other investments,
net of cash acguired, resulting from our acquisition of Identify Software in the current period, and $201.8 million
period over period increase in cash used to purchase marketable securities. net of proceeds from sales and maturities.
The decrease for fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 was attributable primarily to a $256.7 million decrease in
cash puid for technology acquisitions and other investiments, net of cash acquired, resufting from our acquisitions of
Marimba, Inc. and Calendra, SA in fiscal 2005 and a $33.6 million decreasc in purchases of property and equipment,
partially offset by a $115.5 million period-over-period decrease in proceeds from the sales and maturities of
marketable securities. net of purchases.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $234.1 million during fiscal 2007 and increased $214.4 million
during fiscal 2006 as compared to the prior year. The decrease for fiscal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 was
attributable primarily to the receipt of $291.9 million in proceeds from the sale and leaseback of our headquarters
campus in fiscal 2007 and a $61.6 million period over period increase in proceeds primarily from employee stock
option exercises and a $28.6 million increase in excess tax benefit from share-based compensation, partially offset
by a $144.0 million period over period increase in cash used for ireasury stock purchases. The increase for fiscal
2006 as compared to fiscal 2005 was primarily attributable to an increase of $324.0 million in cash used for treasury
stock purchases, partially offset by an increase of $111.6 million in proceeds from employee stock option exercises.

Finance Receivables

We provide financing on a portion of our sales transactions to customers that meet our specified standards of
creditworthiness. Our practice of providing financing at reasonable interest rates enhances our competitive position.
We participate in established programs with third-party financial institutions to sell a significant portion of our
finance receivables, enabling us to collect cash sooner and remove credit risk. The finance receivables are sold to
third-party financial institutions on a non-recourse basis. We record such transfers of finance receivables to third-
party financial institutions as sales of such finance receivables when we have surrendered control of such
receivables. including determining that such assets have been isolated beyond our reach and the reach of our
creditors. We have not guaranteed the transferred receivables and have no obligation upon default. During fiscal
2007, 2006 and 2005. we transferred $174.2 million. $160.9 million and $247.4 million, respectively, of such
reccivables through these programs. The high credit quality of our finance receivables and the existence of these
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third-party facilities extend our ability to offer financing to qualifying customers on an ongoing basis. However, to
meet the needs of our customers we have heen providing more licensing options. and this increased focus on
flexibility may lead to more customer transactions where cash payments will be received over time. This flexibility
may also reduce our ability to transfer finance receivables in the future and may reduce our cash flow from
operations in the near term.

Treasury Stock Purchased

Our Board of Directors has authorized a $2.0 billion stock repurchase program ($500.0 million authorized in
April 2000, $500.0 million in July 2002 and $1.0 billion in November 2005). During fiscal 2007, we purchased 20.7
million shares for $555.0 million. From the inception of the repurchase plan through March 31, 2007. we have
purchased 85.9 million shares for $1,745.5 million. See Market for Registrant's Common Equity. Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities. The repurchase program will continue to be funded
primarily with cash generated from operations. As of March 31, 2007, there was $254.5 million remaining in the
stock repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2007:

Payments due by Period

Less Than After
1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years S Years Total
(In millions)
Capital lease obligalions ..ot $ 62 $ 34 § — $§ —% 96
Operating lease obligations....a, 59.2 36.7 54.2 662 2663
Purchase obligations(1) 33 1.8 1.0 — 6.1
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the balance sheet.... 1.5 29 1.3 — 5.7
Total contractual obligations(2)... ..o oenccceceennns $_70.2 $ 948 $ 565 S 6628 2877

(1) Represents obligations under agrecments with non-cancelable terms to purchase goods or services. The
agreements are enforceable and legally binding, and contain specific terms, including guantities to be purchased
and the timing of the purchase.

{2» Total does not include contractual obligations recorded on the balance sheet as current liabilities, other than
capilal lease obligations.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 159, Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (SFAS No.
159). which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.
The standard requires that unrealized gains and losses are reported in earnings for items measured vsing the fair
value option. SFAS No. 159 is effective for us beginning in fiscal 2009. We have not determined whether we will
elect to measure items subject to SFAS No. 159 at fair value and, as a result, have not assessed the potential impacts
of adoption on our current accounting policies and procedures or consolidated financial position. results of
operations or cash flows.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157. “Fair Value Measurements™ (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No.
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value
measurements, with certain exceptions including SFAS 123(R), among other pronouncements. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for us beginning in fiscal 2009. We have not determined whether the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have
a material effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.




In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncerfainty in Income Taxes—an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifics the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109 and provides that the benefit of a
tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return not be recognized in the financial statements unless that
position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance
on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We
adopted the provisions of FIN 48 as of April 1, 2007, and currently do not expect the adoption to have a material
effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abont Market Risk

We are exposed to a variety of risks, including foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and changes in the
market value of our investments. In the normal course of business, we employ established policies and procedures to
manage these risks including the use of derivalive insiruments.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We operate globally and the functional currency for most of our non-U.S. enterprises is the local currency. For
fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, approximately 47.9%, or $756.9 million, 47.0%, or $704.0 million, and 48.1%. or
$704.0 miilion, respectively, of our totul revenue was derived from customers outside of the United States,
substantially all of which was billed from our regional headquarters, which have the U.S. dollar as the functional
currency, and was collected in foreign currencies. Similarly. substantially all of the expenses of operating our
international subsidiaries are incurred in foreign currencies. As a result, our U.S. dollar carnings and net cash flows
from international operations may be adversely affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To
minimize our risk from changes in forcign currency exchange rates, we utilize certain derivative financial
instruments.

We primarily utilize two types of derivative financial instruments in managing our foreign currency exchange
risk: forward exchange contracts and purchased option contracts, Forward exchange contracts are used (o offset our
exposure to certain foreign currency assets and liabilities. The terms of these forward exchange contracts are
generally one month or less and are entered into at the prevailing market rate at the end of each month. Forward
exchange contracts and purchased option contracts, with terms generally less than one year. are used to hedge
anticipated, but not firmly committed, transactions. Principal currencies hedged are the euro and British pound in
Europe, the Japanese yen and Ausiralian dollar in the Asia Pacific region and the Israeli shekel. While we actively
manage much of our foreign currency risks on an ongoing basis, there can be no assurance our foreign currency
hedging activities will offset the full impact of fluctuations in currency exchange rates on our consolidated results of
operations, cash flows and financial position.

Based on our foreign currency exchange instruments outstanding at March 31, 2007, we estimate a one-day
maximum potential loss on our foreign currency exchange instruments, based on a value-at-risk ("VAR™) model
utilizing Monte Carlo simulation, which would not have a material effect on our future consolidated results of
operations or cash flows, The VAR model estimates were made assuming normal market conditions and a 95%
confidence level. The VAR model is a risk estimation tool. and as such, is not intended to represent actual losses in
fair value that could be incurred.

Interest Rate Risk— Investinentis

We adhere to a conservative investment policy, whereby our principle concern is the preservation of liquid funds
while maximizing our yield on such assets. Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities were approximately
$1.5 billion at March 31, 2007. Marketable securities (including amounts in cash equivalents of $248.9 million) of
$872.5 million primarily represented different types of investment-grade debt securities. Although our portfolio s
subject to fluctuations in interest rates and market conditions, we classify our marketable securities as “available-
for-sale” under SFAS No. 115, which provides that no gain or loss on any security would actually be recognized in
earnings unless the instrument was sold or the loss in value was deemed to be other than temporary.
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Based on our consolidated financial position as of March 3 L, 2007 and our consolidated results of operations and
net cash flows for fiscal 2007, we estimate that a near-term change in interest rates would not have a material effect
on our future consolidated results of operations or cash flows. We used a VAR variance-covariance model to
measure potential market risk on our marketable securities due to interest rate fluctuations. The VAR model
estimates were made assuming normal market conditions and a 95% confidence level. The VAR model is a risk
estimation tool, and as such, is not intended 1o represent actual losses in fair value that could be incurred.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The response to this item s submitted as a separate section of this Report. See ltem 15,
ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None,
ITEM 9A. Conirols and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal
executive and {inancial officers, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. There are
inherent limitations to the cffectiveness of any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of the controls and procedures. Accordingly. even
effective disclosure controls and procedures can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control
objectives,

Our management carried out an evaluation. under the supervision of our principal executive officer (CEQ) and
principal financial officer (CFQ). of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of March 31, 2007. Based upon that evaluation
and because of the material weakness described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting included in Part IV, Ttem 15 and incorporated herein by reference. our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of March 31.
2007,

In light of the material weakness. in preparing our consolidated financial statements as of and for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2007, we performed additional analyses and other post-closing procedures in an effort to ensure
our consolidated financial statements included in this Report for the fiscal year ended March 31. 2007 have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The CEO and CFO have certified that, to
their knowledge, our consolidated financial statements included in this Report fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition. results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented in this Report. Emnst & Young
LLP's report, dated May 30, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on our consolidated financial statements. This
report is included in Part IV, ltem 15 and should be read in its entirety.

Changes in Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2007
that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 9B. Otlher Information

None.




PART 111

ITEM 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive Proxy Statement in connection with our
2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2007 Proxy Statement”), which will be filed with the SEC within 120
days after the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007, under the headings “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS” and
“EXECUTIVE OFFICERS” and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be set forth in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the headings
“COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS”, “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION” and “COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be set forth in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the headings
“SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS,” “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
MANAGEMENT" and “EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS™ and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be set forth in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the heading
“CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be set forth in the 2007 Proxy Statement under the heading
“AUDITOR FEES” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART 1V

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Documents filed as a part of this Report

I. The following consolidated financial statements of BMC Software. Inc. and subsidiaries and the related
reports of the independent registered public accounting firm are filed herewith:

Page
Nuinber_

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.........ooooiiinieeeeee s 42
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ... 43
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Balance Sheets us of March 31, 2007 and 2006 ...............ccoooiomo 46
Statements of Operations for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ..o 47
Statements of Stockholders™ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended March 31, 2007,

2006 and 2005 ovo e 48
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005... oo 49
Notes to Consolidated Financial SLMEMents. ... 50

2. All schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required. or the information is included
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

3. The following Exhibits are filed with this Report or incorporated by reference as set forth below.

Exhibit

Number

3.1 — Restated Certificate of [ncorporation of the Company; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S- | (Registration No. 33-22892),

32 — Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation: incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1997.

3.3 —  Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed November 30, 1999;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended Murch 31, 2002 (the 2002 10-K).

34 — Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company: incorporated by reference 10 Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Quarterty Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2003.

10.1(a} — BMC Software. Inc. 1994 Employee Incentive Plan (as amended and restated): incorporated by
reference 1o Exhibit A 10 the Company’s Proxy Statement on Schedule [4A filed July 21, 1997,

10.1(b} — Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under BMC Software, [ne. 1994 Employce
Incentive Plan: incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(b) to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1995 (the 1995 10-K).

10.1¢¢) — Amendment to BMC Software. Inc. 1994 Employee Incentive Plan (as amended and restated
effective as of August 25, 1997); incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed July 19, 2005.

10.2(a) — BMC Software. Inc. 1994 Non-employee Directors’ Stock Option Plan: incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.8(a) to the 1995 10-K.

10.2(h) — Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Non-employee
Directors” Stock Option Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(b) to the 1995 10-K.

10.3 — Form of Indemnification Agreement among the Company and its directors and executive

officers: incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the 1995 10-K.
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Exhibit

Number

10.4(a)
10.4(b)
10.4(c)
10.4(d)
10.5(a)

10.5(b)

10.5(c)

10.6(a)

10.6(b)

10.6(c)

10.6(d)

10.7(a)

10.7(b)
10.7(c)

10.7(d)

10.7(e)
10.7(f)

10.7(g)

10.8(a)

10.8(b)

10.9(a)

BMC Software, Inc. 2000 Employee Stock Incentive Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit
i0.1 1o the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000.

First Amendment to 2000 Employee Stock Incentive Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4(b) to the 2002 10-K.

Second Amendment to 2000 Employee Stock Incentive Plan; incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4(c) to the 2002 10-K.

Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under 2000 Employee Stock Incentive Plan;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4(d) to the 2002 10-K.

BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Deferred Compensation Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 dated April 2, 1999,

First Amendment to BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Deferred Compensation Plan; incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-8 dated April 2,
1999,

Form of BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Deferrcd Compensation Plan Trust Agreement; incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 5-8 dated April 2,
1999,

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Robert Beauchamp;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended March 31, 2001.

Amendment No. 1 to Exccutive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and
Robert Beauchamp; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(b) to the 2002 10-K.

Amendment No. 2 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and
Robert Beauchamp; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(c) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2003 (the 2003 10-K).

Amendment No. 3 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and
Robert Beauchamp; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6(d) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2004 (the 2004 10-K).

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan Barnea; incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2000.

Amendment No. ! to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(b) to the 2002 10-K.

Amendment No. 2 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(c) to the 2003 10-K.

Amendment No. 3 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(d) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended March 31, 2006 (the 2006 10-K).

Amendment No. 4 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(c) to the 2006 10-K.

Amendment No. 5 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(f) to the 2006 10-K.

Amendment No. 6 to Executive Employment Agreement between BMC software, Inc. and Dan
Barnea; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7(g) to the 2006 10-K.

BMC Software, Inc. 2002 Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plan; incorporated by reference
to Appendix B to the Company’s 2002 proxy statement filed with the SEC on Schedule 14A (the
2002 Proxy Statement).

Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under BMC Software, Inc. 2002 Nonemployee
Director Stock Option Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(b) to the 2003 10-K.

BMC Software, Inc. 2002 Employee Incentive Plan; incorporated by reference to Appendix C to
the 2002 Proxy Statement,
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Exhibit
Number

10.9(b) —

10.10 —

10,11 —
10.12 —

10.13 —

10.14 —

10.15 —

10.16 —

10.17 —

*10.18 —
10.19 -—

10.20 —

*21.1 —
*23.1 —
*31.1 —

*31.2 —

* Filed herewith.

Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under BMC Software, Inc. 2002 Employee
Incentive Plan; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9(b) to the 2003 10-K.

BMC Software, Inc. Short-term Incentive Performance Award Program (as amended and
restated); incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.

BMC Software, Inc. Long-term Incentive Performance Award Program; incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the 2003 10-K.

Executive Employment Agreement, as amended, between BMC Software. Inc. and Stephen B.
Solcher, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the December 22, 2005 8-K.

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Cosmo Santullo;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated
November |, 2004 (the November 1, 2004 8-K).

Form of Stock Option Agreement employed under BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Employee
Incentive Plan utilized for senjor executive officers; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,14
to the November 1, 2004 8-K.

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement employed under BMC Software, Inc. 1994 Employee
Incentive Plan utilized for senior executive officers: incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15
to the November 1, 2004 8-K.

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software. Inc. and Denise M. Clolery;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended December 31, 2005.

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Michael A. Vescuso;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended December 31, 2005,

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and James W. Grant, Jr.

Purchase and Sale Agreement between BMC Software Texas, L.P. and BMC Software, Inc. as
Seller and TPG/CALSTRS, LLC as Purchaser dated June 6, 2006; incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 6. 2006.

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement employed under BMC
Software. Inc. 1994 Employee Incentive Plan utilized for senior executive officers; incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 12,
2006.

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and Jae W. Chung, Senior
Vice President — Operations; incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended September 30, 2006.

Executive Employment Agreement between BMC Software, Inc. and William Miller;
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.

Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of BMC Software, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of BMC Software, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of BMC Software, Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of BMC Software. Inc. pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail. accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of BMC Software;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary (o permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of BMC Software are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and
directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations. internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deterioraie.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007
and identified the following material weakness in our intcrnal control over {inancial reporting. A material weakness
is a significant deficiency. or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in there being a more than remote
likelihood that a material misstatement in our annual or interim consolidated financial statements could occur and
not be prevented or detected.

Management identified a material weakness in the design and operation of the Company’s internal controls over
the accounting for income taxes. There was a lack of personnel with adequate expertise in income tax accounting
maiters. insufficient or ineffective analysis and review practices and a lack of processes to effectively reconcile
income tax general ledger accounts to supporting detail and adequately verify data used in computations, which are
necessary to detect whether income tax amounts are calculated properly and recorded in the proper period. Although
no material misstatements were discovered. management has concluded that, until this deficiency is remediated,
there is more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement in our annual or interim consolidated financial
statements will not be prevented or detected by our internal control over financial reporting.

Because of the material weakness described above, management concluded that, as of March 31, 2007, we did
not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established by the Commitiee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Management’s
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007 has been audited by Ernst & Young
LLP. the independent registered public accounting firm who also has audited our conselidated financial statements.
Ernst & Young's report on management’s assessiment of our internal control over financial reporting appears on the
following page.




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Bourd of Directors and Stockholders of BMC Software, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment. included in the accompanying Management™s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that BMC Software, Inc. (the “Company™) did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, because of the effect of the material weakness in the design
and operation of internal controls over the accounting for income taxes identified in management’s assessment,
bused on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Commitiee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is 1o express an opinion on management’s assessment and an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audir.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reascnable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internai control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control. and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a rcasonable
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed o provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide rcasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 1o permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with gencrally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company: and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition. use, or disposition of the company's
assets that could have a material efiect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevenmt or detect
misstatements. Also. projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions. or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency. or combination of control deficiencics. that results in more than a
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment. A
material weakness was identified in the design and operation of the Compuany’s internal controls over the accounting
for income taxes as of March 31, 2007. There was a lack of personnel with adequate expertise in income tax
accounting matters, insufficient or ineffective analysis and review practices and a lack of processes to effectively
reconcile income tax general ledger accounts 1o supporting detail and adequately verify data used in computations.
which are necessary 10 detect whether income tax amounts are calculated properly and recorded in the proper period.
Although no material misstaiements were discovered. until this deficiency is remediated, there is more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be
prevented or detected by the Company’s internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner. This material
weikness was considered in determining the nature., timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the fiscal
2007 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated May 30, 2007 on those
financial stutements,




In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting as of March 31, 2007 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also,
in our opinion. because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives
of the contro} criteria. the Company has not maintained effective internal contro! over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2007, based on the COS( criteria.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas
May 30, 2007




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of BMC Software, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BMC Software. Inc. (the Company) as of
March 31. 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations. stockholders”™ equity and
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordunce with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining. on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred 10 above present fairly. in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Company as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2007. in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Notes 1 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements, effective April 1, 2006, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment™.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated May 30. 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Houston, Texas
May 30. 2007




BMC SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2007 2006
{In millions, except per share data)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS .......ccovveeiieieeee et ere e $ 88335 % 905.9
Marketable SeCUMHES ... e e 412.5 157.5
Trade accounts receivable, TCT........ocviieeeeeee e e 185.9 167.8
Current trade finance reCeivables, MEt. .. e v e 130.0 123.2
Current deferred tAX ASSELS....uuivii e ciiieeeeiieeesitere s s sreereessseeessssneesssssnererersnrresennns 69.9 434
OUHET CUITEIIL ASSELS . ovrieteieteieriesteeeraearssastaessesasesseasesasssasserssarssersrararersnesseensesssnensens 107.7 108.6
TOUAL CUITEIE BSSEES oo eeveeeeee oot et e et e e e tae s e e b e te e eassiaaas s sabasserssbessssasaaeas 1,789.5 1.506.4
Property and equUIPMENt, NEE........ocorriirii e b s 88.3 352.1
Software development COSES, MEL ..o e 104.1 110.8
Long-term marketable SeCurities ... 2111 280.3
Long-term trade finance receivables, Nel. ... 124.4 81.9
Intangible assets, N ... 44.3 53.5
GOOWILL ..ot e ettt e e e e eeee e s e e e e e aeaeeasaeaaeeaateeatatatasasnsessanssnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsn 670.5 561.4
Other [ONZ-term ASSEIS ...viiuiiiiiiceiie e se s s ees e s e ea e nen s 227.8 264.5
TORAL ASSRLS ... .eecvereieeeeeetee e eeeeeee e e e etee ettt eeeeeeeeeeeetessaeesesseseantessssseansssennneessseeeanenanes $ 3,260.0 $_3210.9

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Trade accounts PayabIE. ...t 3 424 % 74.6
Finance payables. ... s e e 39.0 66.9
Accrued HAbILES ..ot csesresne e s eses 283.8 252.1
Current portion of deferred 1evenue ... 867.7 308.8
Total current HabilIfIES ....ocviiv i 1,232.9 1,202.4
Long-term deferred reVENUE .......c.oiiviiiiieiitii s saes s e 861.3 819.5
Other long-term Habilities ....co..ooviiiiiiiri i 116.7 90.2
Total Habilities ....ooviv it eesa s er s e 2,210.9 2.112.1

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 1.0 shares authorized, none issued and

OULSTANAING. ...coeroiitiriiricn it ettt e b sane s she e e e sreean e eansean s nnn —_ —
Common stock, $.01 par value, 600.0 shares authorized, 249.0 shares issued and
OULSEATIAINE . ..ottt et seaessesaresas s r s st er e s aeaneesen 2.5 2.5
Additional paid-in capital ... s 679.4 592.5
Retained SaIMINES ......ccviiviiivieier s e anesssses e s s s e enen 1.478.0 1,264.4
Accumulated other comprehensive L08S ... (9.3) (22.4)
2,150.6 1.837.0
Treasury stock, at cost (47.8 and 39.7 shares) ... (1,101.5) (735.3)
Unearned share-based COMPENSAEON ... s — {2.9)
Total stockholders” SqQUILY ... .o oe et e ee 1,049.] 1,098.8
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ....coooieir i $ 32600 $ . 32109

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BMC SOFTWARE, INC,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended March 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In millions, except per share data)
Revenue:
LUCEIISE oo ittt ettt bbb bttt et b et bbb r e $ 5698 § 5270 $ 5465
MAINIBIANCE ..ottt ettt ettt eeasb e st e e e st e sean e sabsaninie 918.8 £78.8 8243
Professional SETvICES......oooi it 91.8 92.6 92.2
TOAL FEVEINUE ittt e e s 1,580.4 1.,498.4 1,463.0
Operating expenses: '
Cost of Heense revenue ... 99.4 123.3 137.4 i
Cost of MAINteNaNCe TEVETMES .......ooieiiieeeoe e e s 175.1 175.0 187.6
Cost of professional SeTVICES TEVENUE......ocvvrviiicveserrerinrrerrresinre e nes 95.8 83.5 91.8 !
Sclling and Marketing BXPEISES....ooov i e rr et 518.1 501.6 556.3 }
Research and development €XPenses .....c.ocviviirieeee e 2107 209.1 2174 !
General and adminiSiralive eXPenSeS......coooovi e 202.8 203.6 213.1 }
Amortization of intangible assets.........cooi e, 26.6 32.8 20.7 !
Severance. exit costs and related charges ... 44.6 41.0 (3.5) '
In-process research and development ... — — 4.0 |
Impairment of BOOAWITl ... — — 3.7
Settlement of HZAION. ......oociiii i — — £1.3
Total Operating eXpPenSes. ..ot e e e 1,373.1 1.369.9 1.439.8
OPerating MCOME ... e e e e 207.3 128.5 23.2
Other income, net:
Interest and other INCOME, NEL...ciiiiiiiiei e 86.6 75.8 79.6
IREEEEST @XPEIISE (oot e e e b e b enreeaneas (1.5) (1.7} 2.0
Gain (loss) on sale of marketable securities and other investments......... 8.2 1.2 (2.6)
Total Other INCOMIE, THEE ..ooioiiii et ee e e e 93.3 75.3 75.0
Earnings betore iNCOME tAXES .....vvviie e 300.6 2038 68.2 ,
Provision fOT INCOME 1AXES ..iviiiiriceee ettt sneee e eaees 84.7 101.8 22.9 '
INELEUITIIIZS c1veveavevteeeeeceeeeceeeeeeeeseasessenes s ese e sessessesesseseesesesneseesenseasensessanseseson $ 2159 § 1020 § 75.3
Basic earnings per share ... ..o $ .06 % 047 % 0.34
Diluted earnings per Share ... b 1.03 § 047 3 0.34
Shares used in computing basic earnings per share ......cc..ocovevveinerineenens 204.2 216.0 222.0
Shares used in computing diluted eamings per Share ....oooovvvvveveeiieeieveveverens 210.2 218.9 224.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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BMC SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended March 3,

2007 2006 2005
(In millions)
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEELCAIMIIES c1ovviveve ettt e bbbt $ 2159 % 1020 $ 753
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating
activities:
In-process research and development ... — — 4.0
Depreciation and amortization ..o 160.8 205.1 221.7
Impairment of OOAWIll ... — — 37
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) ... 22.0 (1.2} (33.4)
Share-based cOMpPensation EXPENSE. ... 41.6 3.0 39
OMREL .. (8.2) (1.2) (5.4)
Changes in operating asscts and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Trade fiNANCE FECEIVADIES . coovii it ecieeeiir e ebe e e 49.7) 70.5 54.1
Trade accounts payable ... ... (32.4) 36.6 6.3
D eITEA FEVEIUE ..o e e eererieeeeieieeeiteeeeeesetee s i memmnmntesasaaeasaasaarartarees 9377 (14.9) 2226
FINance payibles ..o i (27.4) 45.2 (7.5
Other operating assets and liabilities................ (0.2) (24.2) (43.4)
Net cash provided by operating activities ..........cooocveviniii i 420.1 420.9 501.9
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired. and
OB ITIVESLITIEIITS ¢ evveeeeierrveessemeeeeetmeeeeasseseeeaseesaesmeeseesemannseesessssaesnranseensss (145.2) (9.4) (266.1)
Purchases of marketable securities ..o (1.139.0) (291.8) (190.9)
Proceeds from maturities/sales of marketable securities .......................... 961.3 3159 3305
Purchases of property and equipment ... (33.7) (24.1) (57.7)
Capitalization of software development COSIS ... (53.5) (56.7) (61.7)
Other InVesting GCLVILIES ..o e 4.2 6.1 11.3
Net cash used in investing actiVILES ..o {(405.9) (60.0) (234.6)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Treasury stock acquired ... (555.0) (411.0) (87.0)
Proceeds from sale leaseback transaction ..., 291.9 — —
Repayment of debt acquired ..o (5.0) — —
Payments on capital 16ases. ..o, 6. (7. (5.1)
Excess tax benefit from share-based compensation ... 28.6 — —
Proceeds from stock option exercises and other ... 201.6 140.0 28.4
Net cash used in financing activities.............. (44.0) (278.1) (63.7)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ... 74 3.0 4.2
Net change in cash and cash equivalents ... (22.4) 85.8 207.8
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year.........covimiine 9059 820.1 612.3
Cash and cash equivalents, end of Year .......cccovvriiiiiieiein e $_ 8835 $ 9059 3 _820.1
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid fOF IMMEIEST......vvvevsi s $ 15 % 17§ 2.0
Cash paid for income taxes, net of amounts refunded ... 3 552 % 560 % 128

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

BMC Software, Inc. (the Company or BMC Software} develops software that provides systems and service
management solutions primarily for large enterprises. BMC Software markets and sells its products in most major
world markets directly through its sales force and indirectly through channel partners, including resellers,
distributors and systems integrators. The Company also provides maintenance and suppert for its products and
performs software implementation, integration and education services for its customers.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BMC Software, Inc. and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain
reclassifications have been made to the prior years’ financial statements to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates und assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents. At March 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company’s cash equivalents were comprised primarily of money
market funds and commercial paper. The Company’s cash equivalents are subject to potential credit risk. The
Company’s cash management and investment policies restrict investments 1o investment grade, highly liquid
securitics. The carrying value of cash und cash equivalents approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities

Management determines the appropriate classification of investments in marketable debt and equity securities al
the time of purchase and re-evaluates such designation as of cach subsequent balance sheet date. At March 31, 2007
and 2006. the Company’s marketable securities are comprised primarily of debt securities that are classified as
available-for-sale and recorded at their fair market values, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss. Realized gains and losses are recorded in interest and other
income. net, in our consolidated statements of operations. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are calculaied
using the specific identification method, Marketable securities with remaining maturities of twelve months or less
from the balance sheet date are classified as short-term marketable sccurities, Marketable securities with remutining
maturities of more than twelve months from the balance sheet date are classified as long-term marketable securities.

Trade and Finance Receivables

In the ordinary course of business. the Company extends credit to its customers. Trade receivables and those
finance receivables that the Company has the intent and ability to hold are recorded at their outstanding principal
balances, adjusted for interest receivable to date, if applicable, and adjusted by the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Interest income on finance receivables is recognized using the effective interest method and is presented as interest
and other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations. In estimating the allowance for doubtful
accounts, the Company considers the length of time receivable balances have been outstanding, historical collection
experience. current economic conditions and customer-specific information. When the Company ultimately
concludes that a receivable is uncollectible, the balance is charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts. As
of March 31, 2007 and 2006, the allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable was $2.3 million and $3.9
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million. respectively, and the allowance for doubtful trade finance receivables was $0.2 million and $0.3 million,
respectively. For the years ended March 31. 2007, 2006 and 2005, the provision for bad debts was $(0.6) million,
$(2.0) million and $(5.4) mitlion. respectively. and the amounts charged against the allowance for doubtiul accounts
were $1.1 million. $1.6 million and $1.1 million. respectively.

Most of the Company’s finance receivables are transferred to financial institutions. Such transfers are executed
on a non-recourse basis through individual transfers. as discussed further in Note 4. Finance receivables to be
transferred are recorded at the lower of outstanding principal balance. adjusted for interest receivable 1o date. or fair
value. as determined on an individual receivable basis. As such finance reccivables are typically transferred less than
three months after origination. the outstanding principal balance typically approximates fair value, Finance
receivables to be transferred as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, have been aggregated with current and
long-term finance receivables in the accompanying consolidated balunce sheets at those dates.

Long-Lived Assets
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation on property and equipment. with the exception of
leaschold improvements. is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets,
which range from three to ten years. Leaschold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the
shorter of the lease term or the estimated respective useful lives of the assets. which range from three to ten vears.

Costs incurred o develop internal-use software during the application development stage are capitalized and are
stated at cost. and are amortized using the straight-tine method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. which
range from three o five years. Application development stage costs generally include costs associaled with internal-
use software configuration, coding. installation and 1esting. Costs of significant upgrades and enhancements that
result in additional functionality are also capitalized whereas costs incurred for maintenance and minor upgrades and
enhancements are expensed as incurred.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist principally of acquired technology. customer relationships and tradenames recorded in
connection with the Company’s business combinations. Intangible asscts are stated al cost and amortized on a
straight-line basis over their respective estimated economic lives ranging from two Lo four vears.

We periodically review our long-lived assets for impairment. We initiate reviews for impairment whenever
evenis or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully
recoverable or that the usetul lives of these assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a
comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of the asset. If an impairntent is indicated, the asset
is written down to its estimated fair value. The Company did not recognize any such material impairment charges
during the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 or 2005,

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired. including
identified intangible assets. in connection with our business combinations. We test goodwill for impairment in the
fourth quarter of each year or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset might be
impaired. During the year ended March 31, 2005, in connection with the Company’s annual goodwill impairment
test. management impaired $3.7 million in goodwill that was assigned to the Company’s professional services
segment. The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairment during the years ended March 31, 2007 or 2006.

Goodwill is assigned to the reporting units that are expected o benefit from the synergies of the business
combination, which are the reporting units 10 which the related acquired technology is assigned. The Company then
determines the fair value of the reporting units with goodwill using a combination of the income and market
approaches on an invested capital basis.
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The Company determines the amount of any impairment of intangible assets with indefinite lives using the
income approach.

Software Development Costs

Costs of software developed internatly for licensing to third-parties are expensed until the technological
feasibility of the software product has been cstablished. Thereafter, software development costs are capitalized
through the general release of the software products and subsequently reported at the lower of unamortized cost or
net realizable value. Capitalized software development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the products’
respective estimated economic lives, which are typically three years. The amonization of capitalized sofiware
development costs, including amounts accelerated for products that were not expected 1o generate sufficient future
revenue to realize their carrying values, is included in cost of license revenue in the consolidated stutements of
operations. During the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, amounts capitalized were $55.4 million, $56.7
million and $61.7 million, respectively. and amounts amortized were $64.2 million, $71.1 million and $74.9 million,
respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation and Risk Management

The Company operates globally and the functional currency for the majority of its non-1.S. enterprises is the
local currency. Financial statements of these foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars using the rates of
exchange in effect at the balance sheet dates. Revenue and expenses ure translated using rates that approximate those
in effect during the period. Translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss within
stockholders’ equity. The Company’s U.S. dollar net cash flows from tnternational operations may be adversely
affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates. To minimize the Company’s risk from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, the Company utilizes certain derivative financial instruments.

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities™ (SFAS No. 133), SFAS No. 138, "Accounting for Certain
Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities,” und SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” These standards require that every derivative instrument be
recorded in the balance sheet at fair value as either an asset or liability. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
recorded each period in current earnings or other comprehensive income. depending on whether the derivative 1s
designated as part of a hedge transaction, and if so, the type of hedge transaction. The Company classifies cash
flows from its qualifying hedging derivative instruments as cash flows from operating activities in the same category
as the cash flows from the hedged items.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue common stock were excrcised or converted into common stock. For purposes of this
calculation, outstanding stock options and unearned nonvested stock are considered potential common shares using
the treasury stock method.

Revenue Recognition

Software license revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement cxists. delivery of the
product has occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, collection is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence
(VSOE) of the fair value of undelivered elements exists. As substantially all of the Company’s software licenses are
sold in multiple-element arrungements that include either maintenance or both matntenunce and professional
services, the Company uses the residual method to determine the amount of license revenue to be recognized. Under
the residual method. consideration is allocated to undelivered elements based upon VSOE of the fair value of those
elements, with the residual of the arrangement fee allocated to and recognized as license revenue. The Company has
cstablished VSOE of the fair value of maintenance through independent maintenance renewals, which demonstrate a
consistent relationship of pricing maintenance as a percentage of the discounted or undiscounted license list price.
VSOE of the fair value of professional services is cstablished based on daily rates when sold on a stand-alone basis.
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The Company is unable to establish VSOQE of fair value for all undelivered elements in arrangements that include
software products for which maintenance pricing is based on both discounted and undiscounted license list prices.
certain arrangements that include unlimited licensing rights and certain arrangements that contain rights to future
unspecified software products as part of the maintenance offering. If VSOE of fair value of one or more undelivered
elements does not exisl, license revenue is deferred and recognized upon delivery of those elements or when VSOE
of fair value can be established. or if the deferral is due 1o the factors described above, license revenue is recognized
ratably over the maintenance term in the arrangement.

In its time-based license agreements, the Company is unable to establish VSOE of fair value for undelivered
maintenance elements because the contractual maintenance terms in these arrangements are the same duration as the
license terms. and VSOE of fair value of maintenance cannot be established. Accordingly, license fees in time-based
license arrangements are recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement,

Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance arrangements, which primarily
range from one to three years.

Professional services revenue. which principally relates to implementation. integration and training services
associated with the Company's products, is derived under both time-and-material and fixed fee arrangements and in
mOost instances is recognized on a proportional performance basis. If no discernable customer deliverable exists until
the completion of the professional services. the Company applies the completed performance method and defers the
recognition of professional services revenue until completion of the services. Services that are sold in connection
with software license arrangements generally qualify for separate accounting from the license elements because they
do not involve significant production. modification, or customization of the Compuny’s software products and are
not otherwise considered to be essential o the functionality of such products. In arrangements where the
professional services do not qualify for separate accounting from the license elements, the combined software
license and professional services revenue are recognized based on contract accounting using either the percentage-
of-completion or completed-contract method,

The Company also executes arrangements through resellers, distributors and systems integrators (collectively.
channel partners) in which the channel partners act as the principals in the transactions with the end users of the
Company’s products and services. In license arrangements with channel partners, title and risk of loss pass to the
channel partners upon exccution of the Compuny’s arrangement with them and the delivery of the Company’s
products to the chanael partner. The Company recognizes revenue from transactions with channel partners on a net
basis (the amount actually received by the Company from the channel partners) when all other revenue recognition
criteria are satisfied. The Company does not offer right of return. product rotation or price protection to any of s
channel partners,

Revenue from license and muaintenance transactions that are financed are generally recognized in the same
manner as those requiring current paymient, as the Compuny has a history of offering installment contracts to
customers and successtully enforcing original payment terms without making cencessions. In arrangements where
the fees are not considered to be fixed or determinable. the Company recognizes revenue when payments become
duc under the arrangement. If the Company determines that a transaction is not probable of collection or a risk of
concession exists, the Company does not recognize revenue in excess of the amount of cash recetved.

The Company is required to charge certain taxes on its revenue transactions. These amounts are not included in
revenue. Instead. the Company records a lability when the amounts are collected and relieves the liability when
payments are made to the applicable government agency:.

Casts of License and Maintenance Revenue

Cost of license revenue is primarily comprised of (i) the amortization of capitalized software costs for products
developed internally for licensing to third-parties. (i) amortization of acquired technology for products acquired
through business combinations, (iii) license-based royalties to third parties and (iv) production and distribution costs
for initial product licenses.,
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The cost of maintenance revenue is primarily comprised of the costs associated with the customer support and
research and development personnel that provide maintenance and support services to the Company’s customers.

Sales Commissions

The Company pays commissions to its direct sales foree related to revenue transactions under commission plans
established annually. The Company defers sales commissions that are directly related to license and maintenance
revenue that is deferred. After initial deferral, these commissions are recognized as selling and marketing expenses
in the consolidated statements of operations over the terms of the related customer contracts, in proportion to the
recognition of the associated revenuve. The commission payments, which are typically paid in full in the month
following execution of the customer contracts, are a direct and incremental cost of the revenue arrangements.
Deferred commissions as of March 31. 2007 and 2006 were $55.4 million and $50.0 million, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(Revised
2004}, "Share-Based Payment™ {(SFAS No. 123(R)). using the modified prospective method. Under this transition
method, compensation cosl recognized in the twelve months ended March 31, 2007, includes compensation cost for
all share-based payments granted through March 31, 2006, but for which the requisite service period had not been
completed as of March 31, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Acceunting for Stock-Based Compensation™ (SFAS No. 123), and compensation cost
tor ull share-based payments granted subsequent to March 31. 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), compensation cost is
recognized only for those awards that are expected to vest, whereas, prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the
Company recognized forfeitures as they occurred. The Comipany uses the straight-line attribution method to allocate
share-based compensation costs over the service period of the award.

Prior to April 1. 2006, the Company accounted for stock option plans using the intrinsic value method under
Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ (APB 25), and related
interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. [23, under which no compensation expense was generally recognized by
the Company for stock option grants as the exercise price of the Company’s options grunted was equal to the quoted
market price of the common stock on the date of grant, except in limited circumstances when stock options were
exchanged in business combinations. Accordingly, share-based compensation expense related to the Company’s
stock options was included as a pro forma disclosure in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and
continues to be provided for periods prior to fiscal 2007.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 159, Fair Value Option
for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (SFAS No.
159), which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.
The standard requires that unrealized gains and losses be reported in earnings for items measured using the fair
value option. SFAS No. 159 is effective for the Company beginning in fiscal 2009. The Company has not
determined whether it will elect to measure items within the scope of SFAS No. 159 at fair value and, as a result, has
not assessed the potential impacts of adoption on its current accounting policies and procedures or consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In September 2006. the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements™ (SFAS No. 157). SFAS No.
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies to other accounting pronouncements that reguire or permit fair value
measurements, with certain exceptions, including SFAS 123(R), among other pronouncements. SFAS No. 157 is
effective for the Company beginning in fiscal 2009. The Company has not determined whether the adoption of
SFAS No. 157 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In July 2006. the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes
recognized tn an entity’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109 and provides that the benefit of a tax
position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return not be recognized in the financial statements unless that
position is more likely than not of being sustained by the taxing authority. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance
on derecognition. classification. interest and penalties, accounting in interim pertods. disclosure and transition. The
Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 as of April 1. 2007, and currently does not expect the adoption to have a
material effect on its consolidated financial position or results of operations,

(2) Business Combinations
Identify Software Acquisition

In May 2006. the Company acquired all of the outstunding shares of Idemtify Software Lid. (Identify Software). a
global provider of application problem resolution software. for $150.0 million in cash. The Company also incurred
approximately $0.6 million in dircet acquisition costs. Identify Software’s operating results have been included in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date as part of the Enterprise Service
Management segment. The addition of Identify Software's solutions to the Compuny’s transaction management
strategy provides customers with enhanced application and problem resolution capabilities. enabling them to
pinpoint the cause of transaction breakdowns, The allocation of the purchase price 1o specific assets and liabilitics
was based. in pan, upon outside appraisals of the fair value of certain assets of Identify Software. The following
tuble summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and fiabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

May 10,

2006

(In millions)

CUITEIEASSLIS oo oo eee oo $ 138
Property and equipment 0.9
Other intangible assets 12.7
Acquired technology. ..o 26.2
Goodwill ..o, 96.5
Other 28818 154
Totak assets acquired 165.5
Liabilities assumed ........... (14.9)
Net assets acquired $.150.6

The acquired identifiable intangible assets include $26.2 million of acquired technology and $12.7 million of
customer relationships. trademarks and tradenames. with a weighted average cconomic life of three years,

The goodwill recorded was assigned to the Enterprise Service Management segment and a majority of such
goodwill is expected 1o be deductible for tax purposes. Factors that contributed to a purchase price that resulied in
goodwill include, but are not limited to. the retention of rescarch and development personnel with the skills to
develop future versions of acquired technology. support personnel to provide the maintenance services related 1o the
products and u trained sales force capable of selling current and future versions of acquired products. the opportunity
lo cross-sell Identify Software and BMC Software products o existing customers and the positive reputation that
Ldentify Software has in the market.

OpenNetwork Acquisition

In March 2005, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain labilities of OpenNetwork
Technologies. Inc. The aggregate purchase price was $18.4 million in cash. including direct deal costs, and was
allocated as follows: $5.7 million to acquired technology with a weighted average estimated life of three years. $2.9
million to customer relationships with a weighted average estimated life of three years. $8.4 million to goodwill.
$0.8 million 1o in-process research and development and $0.6 million to tangible assets acquired, net of liabilities
assumed. The goodwill recorded in connection with this acquisition has been allocated 1o each of our Enterprise
Service Management and Mainframe Service Management segments is deductible for income tax purposes.
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Calendra Acquisition

In January 2005, the Company acquired all the outstanding shares of Calendra, SA. The aggregate purchase price
was $34.0 million in cash, including direct deal costs, and was allocated as follows: $5.3 million to acquired
technology with a weighted average estimated life of three years, $2.4 million to customer relationships with a
weighted average estimated life of three years, $23.2 million to goodwill, $3.0 million to in-process research and
development and $().1 million to tangible assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. The goodwill recorded in
connection with this acquisition has been allocated to our Enterprise Service Management and is not deductible for
income 1ax purposes.

Marimba Acquisition

In July 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Marimba, Inc. (Marimba) for cash of $230.3
million and exchanged 2.3 million BMC Software common stock options with a fuir value of $20.9 million for all of
Marimba’s outstanding options. Marimba focuses on IT asset discovery and asset change and configuration
management, which strengthened the Company’s Business Service Management related offerings. The fair value of
the options issued is included in the aggregate purchase price for the acquisition and was determined using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model and the average market price of the Company’s common shares over the five-
day period up to and including the closing date of the acquisition. The aggregate purchase price was $255.3 million,
including direct costs of the transaction. The allocation of the purchase price to specific assets and liabilities was
based. in part, upon outside appraisals of the fair value of certain assets and liabilities of Marimba. The following
table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

July 15,

2004
{1n millions)
Cash and short-term marketable SECUMLES .....cooi it S 381
OMBCT CUITENT ASSELS 11ttt et este et ese et e e e e e es e s e e e s e ss et eseanseseese s e sesess e sesees s m st enssrenrases 13.3
Long-term marketable SECUTIHES .....oooviiii ettt e e e s et ee b e e b e e b asnr e saeasntas 15.2
Property and equipment and other JONZ=term A8SEI8 .ot 19.4
I GSSEES . oottt ettt et e et e et e e et e e ete et e s e e ene e ebe e reeaataaneaaneen e s e erbevreans 4().2
Goodwill ..o, . 147.4
Ol ASSEIS ACQUITEU ..o ettt ettt ae e e e et et st asas st eaas 2736
CUITEII TLADMIEIES (oot eeeeeee e e e e et e et e e e eae e e e e e e teee s s mee e s eaa e e s e e e teeseaamsenteerrrareeaeassens (4.0
Long-1erm HabilItIes ..o ettt ettt ee e e te et e e e te e e e ere ettt e aen (12.3)
TOLAE TABIIEIES .ottt et et eeae e e te e et e et e et e e erbeesbeeateeataeseamsbeessesaas snteesatesas (26.3)
Unearned COMPENSILION COSL.....oiiiiiiiiiiieeee ettt eete et e e ete et eeatasseeanseeseeaneeaeeensesessteeeebeartsantesasesesnrens B.O
NELASSELS LCQUITEU oottt re bbbtttk et et et e saas et sans $.2553

Of the $40.2 million of acquired intangible assets, $38.4 million of those assets have an estimated weighted-
average useful life of 3.5 years, and include $20.0 million of acquired technology with an estimated weighted-
average economic life of three years and $18.4 million of customer relationships with an estimated weighted-
average useful life of four years, The estimated fair value of acquired technology. which consists of products that
have reached technological feasibility, primarily relates to Marimba's Repon Center and Application Management
products and the infrastructure over which all Marimba products are developed. Customer refationships represent the
benelit to be derived Iromn Marimba’s existing license, maintenance and professional services customer base. At the
acquisition date, there were no projects that had progressed to a degree that would enable the tair value of the in-
process research and development to be estimated with reasonable reliability, and therefore. no value was allocated
to in-process research and development.

The $147.4 million of goodwill was assigned 10 the Enterprise Service Management segment and none of that
amount is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Factors that contributed to a purchase price that results in
goodwill include, but are not limited to, the retention of rescarch and development personnel with the skills to
develop future Marimba technology, support personnel to provide the maintenance services related to Marimba
preducts and a trained sales force capable of selling current and future Marimba preducts. the opportunity 1o cross-
sell Marimba and BMC Software products to existing customers and the positive reputation that Marimba has in the
market.
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Other Acquisitions

The Company completed other smaller acquisitions during the years ended March 31, 2006 and 20035, which
were accounted for under the purchase method. The aggregate purchase prices for these trunsactions totaled $5.3
million and $8.9 million. respectively. The operating results of the acquired companies have been inctuded in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements since each of the companies’ respective acquisition dates.

In making its purchase price allocations to in-process research and development for all acquisitions accounted
for under the purchase method, the Company considered present value calculations of income, analyses of project
accomplishments and remaining outstanding items. assessments of overall contributions, as well as project risks.
The values assigned to purchased in-process technology were determined by estimating the costs to develop the
acquired technology into commercially viable products, estimating the resulting net cash flows from the projects and
discounting the net cash flows to their present value. The revenue projections used to value the in-process research
and development were based on estimates of relevant market sizes and growth factors. expected trends in technology
and the nature and expected timing of new product introductions by BMC Software and its competitors. The
resulting net cash flows from such projects are based on the Company’s estimates of cost of sales, operating
expenses and income taxes from such projects.

In making its purchase price allocations to assumed maintenance obligations at the acquisition dates, the
Company estimated the fair values of these obligations to be the cost expected to be incurred to perform the
obligations under the maintenance contracts. plus a reasonable profit associated with the performance effort. The
reasonable profit was estimated based on profit percentages excluding selling costs for comparable companies in the
IT service industry. The fair value of these obligations was recorded as deferred maintenance revenue and is
recognized as maintenance revenue from the acquisition date over the terms of the assumed maintenance
agreements.

(3) Financial Instruments
Marketable Securities

The following tables summarize the composition of the Company’s marketable securities. all of which are
classified as available for sale, at March 31, 2007 and 2006:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Cost Gaing Losses Yalue
{In millions)

March 31, 2007
Maturities within | year:
Municipal bonds .........coooevveiii, $ 596 $ — % 0N % 395
Agency bonds ... 19.9 — (0.3) 19.6
Corporate BONUS.........c.ovvmiieeeooeeee e, 43.4 — (0.2) 43.2
Foreign debt securities 8.1 - — 8.1
Commercial paper 272.1 — — 272.1
TTCUSUTIES ©eovieieieieiieieis st e e 10.0 — — 10.0)

Total maturities wWithin | Year...........ooooooeeoooooeoeo $_413.]1 S  — $_(06) $ 4125
Maturities from 1-5 years:
Municipal BOnds ......oooiiiiieee e $ 138 ) — % 03 5 135
Agency bonds ..., 343 0.6 (0.7 34.2
Corporate bonds.............ooooeeeeeee. 92.5 1.7 (2.1) 921
Foreign debt securitic 9.9 0.1 (0.2) 9.8
TICASUTIES oottt oot 40.0 0.1 — 40.1
Mutual funds and other 19.8 1.9 (0.3) 2{4

Total maturities from [-3 years ...........ooooeeieoeeeeoooee $_210.3 $ 44 $_(36) $ 2t
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Gross Gross
Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
Caost Gains Losses Value
(In millions)
March 31, 2006
Maturities within 1 year:
MURICIPAl BONUS ..ot eas $ 101 % — % O %5 100
AZencY BONdS ..o s 4.0 — — 4.0
COrporate BONUS.........oovvvrrrrriee e s ssre e ere e e s srreessneeenes 57.5 0.5 0.1 57.9
Foreign debt securities. ... 327 0.2 ((L2) 32.7
MOTZAZE SECUMEIES....eittiiiieiri et ittt ae s st e e be s anen 49.9 3.0 — 529
Total maturities within 1 year.........coeeenees $ 1542 5 37 0§ (04 § 1575
Maturities from 1-5 years:
Municipal BONdS ........ocoooovveieeeee e $ 310 % — $ 04 $ 306
; Agency DONAS ..o e 539 0.9 (1.9 529
: COPOrate BONAS....coviiieiieces oot eeetons 151.1 2.8 (4.5) 149.4
| Foreign debt SECUMILES ....ovvvorvin i rerressrrreresste s rnnessssessssrens 259 0.3 (0.5) 25.7
! Mutual funds and other.............iii e 19.2 2.7 (0.2) 21.7
‘_ Total maturities from 1-5 YEAS ..o e $ 2811 & 67 & (1.5 $ 2803
Unrealized losses on marketable securities at March 31. 2007 by investment category and length of time the
investment has been in a continuous unrealized loss position are as follows:
Less Than 12 Months Creater Than 12 Months Total I
Gross Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Yalue Loss
(In millions)
Agency bonds ... 8 — 3 — $ 3538 $ (1O $ 538 $ .
Corporate bonds...........ooooovvnen. 14.9 — 106.9 (2.3) 121.8 (2.3)
Foreign debt securities................... 8.0 — 9.8 (0.2) 17.8 (0.2)
Municipal bonds ...l — — 30.1 0.4 30.1 (0.4)
Treasuries ..., 20.0 — — — 200 —
Mutual funds and other.................. 13.2 (0.1} 39 {0.2) 17.1 (0.3)
Total e, $ 561 § 0.1y $.2045 4D 3 260.6 3 (4.2)
The Company has reviewed its gross unrealized loss positions at March 31, 2007, which are primarily
attributable 10 changes in market interest rates, and believes that such loss positions are temporary. In making this
determination, the Company primarily considered the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuers. the
magnitude of the losses compared to the investments™ cost, the length of time the investments have been in an
unreaiized loss position and the Company’s ability to hold the investments to maturity.
Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale securities, gross realized gains and gross realized losses were as
follows:
Year Ended March 31,
2007 2006 2005
{In millions)
Proceeds From SRIES ..ot et n e £ 1120 % 388 § 1515
Gross realiZed BAINS. .o e e 6.1 1.4 1.2
Gross realized TOSSES. ..ottt n e e e (1.0} 0.1) 2.8)
|
! S8
|
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Derivative Financial Instruments

The Compuny primarily uses forward exchange contracts and purchased option contracts 10 manage its foreign
currency exchange risk. Forward exchange contracts are used to offset its exposure 1w certain foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities. The terms of these forward exchange comtracts are generally one month or less
and are entered into at the prevailing market rate at the end of each month. These forward cxchange contracts are not
designated as hedges, and therefore, the changes in the fair values of these derivatives are recognized currently in
earnings and are reported in general and administrative expenses as a component of operating expenses, thereby
offsctting the current earnings effect of the related foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. The fair value
associated with these forward exchange contracts at March 31. 2007 and 2006 was not material. General and
administrative expenses included $(2.7) million, $0.8 million and $(0.5) million for the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and
2005. respectively. related 1o unhedged foreign exchange exposures and derivative financial instruments.

Forward cxchange contracts are used by the Company to hedge the fair value of certain available-for-sale debt
securitics. At inception. these derivatives are expected to be highly effective and are designated as fair value hedges
under SFAS No. 133, and the Company assesses the effectiveness of these derivative instruments on an ongoing
basis. The amount excluded in the asscssment of the hedge effectiveness was immaterial. The fair value associated
with these forward exchange contracts at March 31, 2007 was immuterial. The changes in fair value of these
derivatives are recognized currently in earnings and are reported in interest and other income. net. For fiscal year
2007, interest and other income, net included $2.4 million related (o unhedged foreign exchange exposures and
derivative financial instruments,

The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to derivative
financial instruments. but it docs not expect any counterpartics to fail to meet their obligations. given their high
credit ratings. In addition, the Company diversifies this risk across several counterparties and utilizes netting
agreements to mitigate the counterparty credit risk.

(4) Trade Finance Receivables

In the ordinary course of business. the Company extends credit to its customers. A substantial portion of the
trade finance receivables entered into by the Company ure transferred o financial institutions. Trade receivables and
those finance receivables that the Company has the intent and ability to hold are recorded wt their outstanding
principal balances. adjusted for interest reccivable 1o date. if applicable. and adjusted by the allowance for doubtful
accounts. Interest income on finance receivables is recognized using the effective interest method and is recorded as
interest and other income. net in the consolidated statements of operations. Interest income on these financed
receivables was $13.9 million. $18.1 million and $23.1 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Finance receivables to be transferred are recorded at the lower of outstanding principal balance, adjusted for
interest receivable to date. or fair value, as determined on an individual receivable basis. As such finance receivables
are typically transferred less than three months after origination, the outstanding principal balance typically
approximates fair value. Such transfers are executed on a non-recourse basis through individual transfers. Finance
receivables to be transferred as of March 31, 2007 and 2006. respectively. have been aggregated with current and
long-term finance receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at those dates.

The Company utilizes financial subsidiaries in these finance receivables transfers. These entities are consolidated
in the Company’s financial position and results of operations. The Company records such transfers as sales of the
related accounts receivable when the Company is considered to have surrendered control of such receivables under
the provisions of SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments
of Liabilities.” During the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company transferred finance
receivables of $174.2 million, $160.9 million and $247.4 million. respectively, which approximated fair value, to
financial institutions on a non-recourse basis.
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(5) Property and Equipment

A summary of property and equipment is as follows:

March 31,
2007 2006
{In millions}

LT USSR SO U O PR PO PO POSTOR P SRPRPPOR $ — 3 2638
Buildings and leasehold improvements ... 43.5 3299
Computers, software, fumiture and CqUIPIMENL.................cii o 411.7 3634
s Y1 I ) {012 SO OO O R OO SO PP OO U TP 5.8 9.5

461.0 729.6
Less accumulated depreciation and amorizZation ..., (372.1) _ (371.5)
Net property and qUIPIMENT ..o e $. 883 §_ 3521

The property and equipment includes computer equipment procured by the Company under capital lease
arrangements with net book values of $8.7 million and $15.4 million (net of $12.6 million and $5.8 million in
accumulated amortization) at March 31, 2007 and 2006. respectively.

Depreciation expense recorded during the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $44.8 million. $57.9
million and $69.5 million, respectively.

(6) Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets as of March 31, 2007 and 2006 arc as follows:

As of March 31,

2007 2006
Giross Gross

Carrying Net Book  Carrying  Net Book

Amount Value Amount Value

{In millions)

Acquired lechnology. ... $ 3692 § 268 § 3416 $ 237
Customer relationships ... ... 119.7 16.7 107.0 17.5
Tradenames and (rademarks ... 28.3 0.8 26.9 12.2
L1 1= O SO PR OO USSP —— — 0.7 0.1
Total INANEIDIE USSELS..oveiiiiiiiiteticee e e $. 5172 % 443 § 47602 $_535

Amortization of acquired technology totaling $25.4 million, $44.4 million and $54.4 million is included in cost
of license revenue in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 20035.
respectively. Amortization of other intangible assets is included in the separate caption “amortization of intangible
assets™ in the consolidated statements of operations.

Future amortization expense associated with the Company’s intangible assets existing as of March 31, 2007 is
expected to be as follows:

Year
Ending

March 31,
(In millions)

DK e et ent e A LS AL e LR aE YL b e bR et e ene e n e $ 270

UM et LA b LR E SRR R e eae e e e ates 15.8

20T e L e SRR TR e s s s 1.5
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As discussed in Note 13. the Company re-segmented its organization into three operating segments at the
beginning of fiscal 2007. Goodwill has been reallocated to the two primary operating segments and prior periods
have been conformed to this presentation. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended March
31. 2007 and 2006 by operaling segment were as follows:

Enterprise Mainframe
Service Service Professional
Munagement Management Services Total
{In millions)
Balance as of March 31, 2005 ...ooooovieooooeeeeeooee $ 4904 $ 693 — $ 5597
Goodwill acquired during the year .........coo.ccooevveveresrer, 1.9 — — 1.9
Effect of exchange rate changes ... (3.9 — — (3.9)
Pre-acquisition tax contingency adjustment ..................co......... 1.0 2.7 — 37
Balance as of March 31, 2006 ........ccooovivmmie o $ 4894 $ 720 $ — $ 5614
Goodwill acquired during the year ..o $ 965 § — — 3 965
Effect of exchange rate changes .............c...ooocoooeiroovmnn 2.6 — — 12.6
Balance as of March 31,2007 ..o $_598.5 $_72.0 b — $_670.5

(7) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue is comprised of deferred maintenance. license and professional services revenue. Deferred
mainienance revenue is not recorded on arrangements with trade payment terms until the related maintenance fees
have been collected. The components of deferred revenue as of March 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

March 31,
2007 2006
{In millions)
Current:
MAINLENANCE ...t oo e e $ 6106% 5876
LICEINISC oottt et 239.0 203.0
Professional services and OtReT ... 18.1 18.2
Total current deferred FeVERUE . .........o....oooooeeeoeseeeeeeeeeeoeeoeoeoeeeee e 8677 808.8
Long-term:
MITEENANCE. . ..c...ooeirieteeie ettt ettt 591.8 587.5
LCOISE .ottt e e 265.4 2293
Professional services and oMNer ... 4.1 2.7
Total long-term deferred revenue .....co...o.oo.o.ooviiooveceec oo 861.3 819.5
Total deferted TEVENMUE ......c.ovoeeeeee e $ 1,7200 § 1,6283

(8) Income Taxes

The income tax provision for the years ended March 31, 2007. 2006 and 2005 consists of the following:

Year Ended March 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In millions)

Current:
Federil ..o e e 5196 $ 616 $ 365
SHLE 1ottt 2.0 1.3 4.6
FOPCIZN ..ot 41.1 40.1 15.2
TOD CUITENT .o 627 103.0 56.3

Deferred:

FEURTAL ..o ettt 24.3 (6.0) (40.7
B IE e e e 1.6 0.1 (6.7)
FOTCII . .o e e (3.9} 4.7 14.0
Total deferTed ..o e ettt 22.0 (1.2y _ (33.4)
INCOME LaX PrOVISION ..o $ 847 § 1018 3 229
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The foreign income tax provision is based on foreign pre-tax earnings of $120.3 million, $272.6 million and
$193.9 million for the years ended March 31, 2007. 2006 and 2005, respectively. The federal income tax provision
includes the U.S. tax effects of certain foreign entities that are treated as a branch of the U.S. entity for tax purposes
and therelore their carnings are included in the U.S. consolidated income tax return.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% to reported income tax
expense for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In millions)
Expense computed at U.S. SEUHUROTY TS ...o.ovviieieciiiniene e e $ 1052 5 713 § 344
Effect of foreign rate differentials ..o e (18.3) 0.3 4.5
Extraterritorial 1nCome eXCIUSION .......cuvvi e eve s s cerae e (6.2) (1.1 (2.0
State income taxes, net of federal benefit. . ... 36 0.8 (1.4)
Change in valuation alloWante ...t 1.8 2.4y (26.7)
Repatriation of foreign earnings under the American Jobs Creation Act ..o — 35.5 —
Nen-recurring adjustment to net tax Habilities ... — — 11.1
L 1T T3 OO OO TP PPPTPTT (1.4} (2.6) 30

$ 847 $ 1018 § 229

During the year ended March 31, 2006, the Company repatriated certain foreign earnings that were subject to a
special one-time deduction of 85% of the repatriated earnings. Federal and state taxes of $35.5 million associated
with this repatriation were recorded during the year. During the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company recorded
a non-recurring income tax cxpense of $11.1 million to adjust its aggresate net liabilities for income taxes,
withholding taxes and income tax exposures that were found to be understated after an analysis of all of its income
tax accounts in the first quarter of that year,

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities recognized for financial reporting purposes and the related amounts recognized for income tax
purposes. Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31. 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

March 31,
2007 2006
(In millions}

Deferred tax assets:

Acquired research and developPment ... $ 858 & 965
DIEFEITEA FEVEIIUE L.evuveiiitiii ittt ettt ettt ettt eese e e e et e st ese e e et e asaenaneaeens 477 933
Tax credit CarTYTOTWAIGS. .....ooiiiiieiei ettt ettt ets et ets e e eanen s s ensessenensesea 30.8 25.1
Net operating 1083 CarTyforwards ......oooiieiiii ettt e 277 8.0
Stock compensation PIANS. ... e 99 0.7
Deferred compensation PLIN ...t ces et e e 9.8 83
SEALE FXES 1ereiitiiiiect et e ce e ter s e e s oot e e et e e as e e enr T et e et et e et h e ae e e e Rt s eeerenerne 8.3 10.7
Deferred ZaiNS. ..o i et e e e e 1.7 —
L0 1 1= O SO U O OSSP 36.5 25.5
Total gross deferred X ASSET ..o e 2642 268.1
Valuation AllOWANCE ..o.ociiiiieieiceeet ettt ettt es st eve s en s r s b s er e r e e r e e et s (13.2) {6.7)
Total deferred LAX B55€1. i e et 251.0 261.4
Deferred tax Habillies: ...ttt sttt st e b
Software deVEIOPIMENT COBIS ...iiiiiiriiiiiii it aie ettt et sttt sieear e e et e e e emaeemeeseeneesneneas (36.9) (40.4)
LB LT F T €T U OO SUPTOTPTR (2.5 (15.6)
OIIET Lottt ettt e b b e b e e b e b £ e At e ean e ekt ek et et e eana st e s e ens e e e e eneaesae e enas (23.00 (1.7
Total deferred tax Hability ...t eve s et er e ars (624) _ (63.7
NET UBTETTEU 1K BE5ET.1uettrtaeiteiieies et ar et a et et et e ket s e e meee st bt ese e s esessesessansnanasamseseseseone $_188.6 § 1977
A TEPOTIEW: L ettt et r e et e e e e m e e b et e ne s e rmet e s a b e e e ne e e embeeeamt e eane s
Other CUITENE ASSETS. ... it s $_0699 $_ 434
OLher TONZ-LETIT ASSTS 11ouiisiiit ettt ettt ettt e m ek e st e et e nameam e see e e s e esesme et sensansean $_1187 § 1543
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In evaluating the Company’s ability to realize its deferred tax assets. the Compuny considers all available
evidence. hoth positive and negative, including its past operating results. tax planning strategies and forceasts of
future taxable income. In considering these sources of taxable income, the Company must make certain assumptions
and judgments that are based on the plans and estimates used to manage its underlying business. Changes in the
Company’s assumptions, plans and estimates may materially impact income tax cxpensc. The Company can support
a large portion of its net deferred tax assets through prudent and feasible tax planning strategies that wouid resuit in
the realization of deferred tax assets. The Company’s tax planning strategies primarily involve the acceleration of
royalty and cost-sharing pavments under agreements that are currently in place between the Company and its foreign
alfilintes. Under these agreements, the aceeleration ol such payments is at the Company’s sole discretion. Each year
the Company must evaluate the amount of domestic deferred tax assets that could be supported by the acceleration
of these taxable income streams. In the Compuny’s evaluation. it also considers negative evidence such as jts
mability to carryback losses to earlier tax years. After an evaluation of both the positive and negative cvidence. the
Company concluded that a valuation allowance is not required excepl for certain specific items discussed below,

During the year ended March 31, 2005, the Company recorded a $26.7 million tax benefit as part of the totai
income tax expense for the year. related o the reversal of the valuation allowance previously recorded against its net
deferred tax assets. The Company also reduced its valuation allowance and recorded an increase to additional paid-
in capital of $13.8 million for tax benefits attributable to non-qualified stock option exercises in prior years that
resided in the net operating loss carrylforwards that were utilized during the year ended March 31, 2005,

Upon entering into a definitive agreement 1o sell its headquarters campus, the Company reduced its valuation
allowance at March 31, 2006 by $2.6 million us the Company determined that this planned sale would generate
sufficient capital gain income to offset capital loss carryforwards for which the Company previously maintained a
valuation allowance,

The Company maintains a vaivation allowance against a research and development credit acquired as part of the
Marimba acquisition due to various uncertainties regarding the utilization of this specific asset. During the year
ended March 31, 2005, the Company increased this valuation allowance by $2.7 million and recorded a
corresponding increase to goodwill related 1o this acquired asset. If this valuation allowance is reduced in a future
year. a corresponding reduction 1o goodwill would be recognized. In addition. there are valuation allowances that
have been recorded against various net operating losses in state and foreign jurisdictions because the Company does
not currently anticipate it will be able to utilize these net operating losses.

Aggregate unremitted camings of certain foreign subsidiaries for which U.S. federal income taxes have not been
provided were $139.1 million and $82.6 million at March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Deferred income taxes
have not been provided on these carnings because the Company considered them to be indefinitely re-invested. If
these earnings were repatriated to the United States or they were no longer determined to he indefinitely re-invested,
the Company would have o record a potential deferred wx liability for these earnings of approximately $45.5
million. assuming full utilization of the foreign lax credit associated with these earnings. At March 31, 2007, the
Company had a deferred tax asset of $1.3 million related 1o excess foreign tax credits that are available to offset its
U.S. income tax on the earnings it does not consider indefinitely re-invested.

As of March 31, 2007. the Company has foreign tax credit carryforwards of $22.0 million that will cxpire
between 2010 and 2017 and research and development tax credit carryforwards of $5.7 million (netof a $2.8 million
valuation allowance) that wiil cxpire in 2020 and 2021, The Company has state net operating loss carryforwards of
$80.3 million and foreign net operating losses of $11.0 million. which expire between 2008 and 2027, that it
believes will be utilized. In addition. the Company has other state and foreign net operating losses that it does not
believe will be utilized and therefore has not recorded deferred tax asset related to these losses.

The Company carries out its business operations through legal entities in the U.S. and multiple foreign
Jurisdictions. These jurisdictions require that the Company file corporate income tax returns that are subject 1o U.S..
state and foreign ax laws, The Company is subject to routine corporale income tax audits in these multiple
Jurisdictions. The Company’s provision for income taxes includes amounts intended to satisfy income tax
assessments that may result from the examination of the Company’s corporate tax returns that have been filed in
these jurisdictions when the Company determines that the related tax contingency meets the probable and estimable
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criteria of SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies™ (SFAS No. 5). The Company also faces other gencral
income tax exposures related to domestic and foreign income tax issues that do not meet the probable andfor
estimable criteria of SFAS No. 5 and. therefore, no accrual has been made for these items. The amounts ultimately
paid upon resolution of these contingencies or general exposures could be materially different from the amounts
included in the provision for income taxes and result in additional tax benefit or expensce depending on the ultimate
outcome.

The Company has finalized all outstanding issues associated with Internal Revenue Service (IRS) examinations
of the Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns through the year ended March 31, 2001. The IRS has completed
its examination of the Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for the years ended March 31, 2002 and 2003 and
issued its revenue agent report in December 2005. The Company has contested the adjustments included in the
revenue agent report and commenced settlement discussions with the IRS in July 2006. The IRS has also
commenced an examination of the Company’s federal income tax returns for the tax years ended March 31. 2004
and 2005, which remains in process. The Company believes adequate provisions for income taxes have been made
and the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s conselidated
financial position or results of operations.

In December 2006, the Company and the Israeli Tax Authorities settled all issues raised in prior audits of various
Istueli affiliates of the Company that covered the tax years 1998 through 2002. The settlement did pot have a
malerial adverse impact on the Company's consolidated financial position or resulls of operations.

In June 2006, in response to a filing by the Company seeking clarification as to whether a tax applies to the
remittance of software payments from its Brazilian operations, a lower level Brazilian cournt denied the Company’s
request for a preliminary injunction and published an unfavorable decision. The Company is appealing this initial
decision. In February 2007, a law was enacted that clarified that this particular tax did not apply to the remittance of
software payments, retroactive to January 1, 2006. The Company continues to pursue a favorable resolution on this
matter for years prior to January 1, 2006, and believes it will ultimately prevail based on the merits of the position.
However. the Company cannot predict the timing and ultimate resolution of this matter for years prior to January 1.
2006.

(9) Share-Based Compensation

The Company has numerous share-based compensation plans. The plans authorize, among other types of awards,
(i) the discretionary granting of stock options to employees and non-employee board members for the purchase of
shares of the Company's common stock and (ii) the discretionary issuance of common stock directly. The
discretionary issuance of common stock, nonvested stock and stock options generaily contain vesting provisions
ranging from one (o four years. The term of each stock option is no more than ten years from the date of grant. Prior
to April 1, 2006, the Company typically granted options which vested quarterly over a four year period and had a
term of ten years. Beginning in fiscal 2007, the Company granted options which generally vested monthly over four
years and had a term of six years. Options granted to non-employee board members generally have ten year terms
and become fully vested on the one year anniversary of the grant date. As of March 31, 2007. there were 11.2
million shares available for future share-based awards. Prior to fiscal 2007, the Company accounted for those plans
under the recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued 10
Employees.” and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123,

The Company’s income before income taxes for fiscal 2007 was lower by $39.8 million and net income was
lower by $27.6 million, than if the Company had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB
Opinion No. 25. For the same period. basic earnings per share was $0.14 lower and diluted earnings per share was
$0.13 lower, due to the Company adopting SFAS No. 123(R).

Prior to adopting SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the
exercise of stock grants as operating cash flows in the consolidated statements of cash flows. SFAS Na. 123(R)
requires the cash flows resulting from the tax benefits from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost
recognized {excess (ax benelits) to be classified as finuncing cash flows. As the Company elected to use the
alternative transition clection described in FASB Staff Position No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to the
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Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.” all 1ax benefits realized related to tax deductible
awards which were fully vested as of April 1, 2006 are recognized as excess tax benefits for statement of cash flow
presentation purposes. As a result. $28.6 million of excess tax benefits for fiscal 2007 have been classified as a
financing cash inflow which would have been classified as an operating cash inflow had the Company not adoptec
SFAS No. 123(R).

The Company granted 3.0 million. 6.1 million and 8.8 million stock options, and 1.5 million, less than 0.1
million and 0.2 million shares of nonvested stock during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005. respectively. There were no
significant modifications made to any share-based grants during these periods,

The Company also has an employee stock purchase plan which permits employees 10 acquire shares of the
Company’s stock at a 15% discount to the lower of the market price at the beginning or end of a 6-month offer
period.

Accounting for Share-Based C. ompensation

Share-based compensation costs are generully based on the fair value calculated from the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model on the date of grant for stock options and on the first day of the offering period for the cmployee stock
purchase plan. Nonvested stock fair values generally equal their intrinsic value on the date of grant,

The fair values of stock grants are amortized as compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period of the grants. Compensation expense recognized is shown in the operaling activities section of the
consolidated statements of cash flow.

As part of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). the Company evaluated the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes
model. As a result, the Company changed its methodology for computing expected volatility and expected term. The
calculation of expected volatility was changed from being based solely on historical volatility to a combination of
both historical volatility and implied volatility derived from traded options on the Company's stock in the
marketplace. The Company believes that the combination of historical volatility and implied volatility provides a
better estimate of future stock price volatility. The expected term was previously calculated based on an analysis of
historical exercises of stock options. For options granied subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No, 123(R), the
expected term of options granted has been derived from the simplified method allowed by SEC Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 107 due (0 changes in vesting terms and contractual lives of current options compared to the
Company’s historical grants, as the contractual lives for awards has been reduced from ten years to six years and
vesting has changed from quarterly to monthly.

‘The Company continues (o base the estimate of the risk-free interest rate on the U.S, Treasury zero-coupon yield
curve in effect at the time of grant. The Company has never paid cash dividends and does not currently intend to pay
cash dividends, thus the Company has assumed a 0% dividend yield.

As part of the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company is required to estimate potential forfeitures of
stock grants and adjust compensation cost recorded accordingly. The estimate of forfeitures will be adjusted over the
requisite service period to the extent that actual forfeitures differ. or are expected to differ. from such estimates,
Changes in estimated forfeitures will be recognized through a comulative catch-up adjustment in the period of
change and will also impact the amount of stock compensation expense (o be recognized in future periods. There has
been no change in estimated forfeitures in fiscal 2007,

The fair value of share-based payments was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the
following weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Expected VORI ....ooevcvvrovtecic 34% 53% 7%
RISK-M1€ NErESt FAe %o .oocovvvvooeoertiee 49%  4.1% 34%
Expected term (in Years)......ccveovocvvceiccno 4 5 5

Dividend yield ...t — — —
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A summary of the Company’s stock compensation activity with respect to fiscal 2007 follows:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractuil Agaregate
Stock Options Shares Price Term Intrinsic Yalue
(In millions) (In Years) (In millions)
QOutstanding at March 31, 2006 ......cccocvvennnnninncrinnens 312 % 20
Granted .......ooovievviciece e e s 3.0 23
EXKEICISEA oo re e e ne e e e e e e e e e e aeaeaeaeaeaaaeaanas (10.7) 18
Cancelled or expired...........oooioimiii (2.) 22
Outstanding at March 31, 2007 ..o, _..214 3% 21 6% 232.1
Vested at March 31, 2007 and expected 1o vest................... 201 % 22 5% 2179
Exercisable at March 31, 2007 ..occoivineiiererrecerneens 147 8§ 22 5% 156.2
Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Grant Date Remuining
Nonvesied Stock Shares Fair Value Vesting Term
{In millions) (In Years)
Ouitstanding at March 31. 2006 151 % 17
Granted 1,561 22
Vested (53) 17
Cancelled or expired {146) 22
Outstanding at March 31. 2007 1,513 8 22 2

Included in the table above are 1.5 million performance based nonvested stock awards the Company granted in
fiscal 2007 to selected executives and other key employees. The awards, whose vesting is contingent upon meeting
certain profitability targets in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009, are valued based on the fair value of the Company’s stock
on the date of grant.

The following summarizes the Company’s weighted average fair value at the date of grant:

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Per grant of SIOCK OPUOMS ........o...oovvrerireitceeeie et e s e $ 817 § 974 % 904
Per grant of NonVESIEd STOCK ..o ettt re ettt sese e e asenes $ 22 % 2% 16

The following summarizes the Company’s share-based payment and stock option values (in millions);

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006 2005
Intrinsic value of stock options exercised ... $ 1064 $ 416 $ 149
Intrinsic value of nonvested stock that VEsSIEd .......oovvviii et $ 1.3 % 15 % 42
Grant date fair value of nonvested StOck that VeSted .....c.ocevvevveivieinisinisin s e cnens $ 17 % 16 % 31
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The Company’s outstanding options as of March 31, 2007, are as foltows (shares in millions):

OQutstanding Oplions Exercisable Options
Weighted
Average
Weighted Average Remaining Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life Shares Exercise Price
$229- 1494 2.5 $ 14 6 2.1 $ 14
51496 -16.60....covee, 34 16 7 2.3 16
$16.66~17.52 e, 3.0 17 6 2.5 17
$17.70 =195 oo, 2.4 19 4 2.2 19
$1O082 1993 e, 2.9 20 B 09 20
$20006 = 2084 ... 1.5 21 5 1.4 21
$21.02-21.78. i, 2.2 22 5 0.4 22
$21.78-4596. e, 23 33 4 1.7 36
$46.09 - T005 ., 1.2 48 2 1.2 48

The Company had approximately $77.1 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to stock
options and nonvested stock at March 31, 2007 that are expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of
2.2 years. Approximately $1.9 million was capitalized as software development costs during fiscal 2007,

The Company received cash of $193.5 million for the exercise of stock options during fiscal 2007. Cash was not
used to settle any equity instruments previously granted. The Company issues shares from treasury siock upon the
exercise of stock options and at the grant date for nonvested stock. The Company does not currently expect to
repurchase shares from any source 1o satisfy such obligations.

The foliowing are the share-based compensation costs recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of
income {in millions):

Year Ended

March 3.
2007

COSt O HCENSE TEVRIMUES __.o..oooioieiieiee et e e $ 02
Cost of MAINIENANCE TEVEIUES ... e ceeeeeeee e e s s e e 52
CoSLOF PrOfESSIONAL SEIVICES ... oottt ee oo s s e oo 1.0
Research and development @XPENSEs ... oo 6.4
Selling and Markeling EXPENSES........c..ouriiririreite oot 12.9
General and adminiStrative €XPENSES......oo...ovveveeerreeeoeeeceeoeee e eeeoe oo 15.9
Total decrease In iNCOME BEIOIE LAXES .....vew.ovveiveoeeeceeeeeeceeoees oo 41.6
Income (X BEnelit ... e (12.8)
Total share-based compensation after LAXES ......o.co.....o.ooooveeeerees oo $ 288

As discussed above. results for prior periods have not been restated to reflect the effects of implementing SFAS
No. 123(R). The following table illustrates the effect on net income {loss) and net income (ioss) per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock options. For purposes of this
pro forma disclosure, the value of the stock options was estimated using a Black-Scholes option-pricing formula and
amortized to expense over the options” vesting periods (in millions, except per-share amounts):
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Year Ended March 31,

2006 2003
NEt INCOIME — 08 TEPOIIEU ..ottt bbb s $ 1020 § 753
Total share-based compensation cost, net of related tax effects included in the
determination of net inCome as TePOTIC. ... 2.0 25
The share-based employee compensation cost, net of related tax eftects, that would have
been included in the determination of net income if the fair value based method had
been applied 10 Al AWATHS ... vveecceii b (37.4) (92.9)
Pro forma NEt INCOME {1088} rereomeeeiet et s e s s s bessras sttt §__660 $.(15.0)
Net income (loss) per share: .
BASIC — (18 TEPOMEU ..o vsveecreinircceias s s s $ 047 $ 034
BASIC —— PIO FOTINL .o voeeeerseeeeseeseesseeems s ss et $ 031 $ (0.0
DHIUILE — 88 TEPOTTEUL 1o et e e 5 047 § 034
DHIUted — PFO TOTIIEL oot b e $ 0.30 $ (0.07)

(10) Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan that is available to substantially all U.S. employees. Employee participants
may contribute up to 35% of their annual compensation into the 401(k) plan, subject to annual IRS limitations. For
cach of the last three calendar plan years, the Company approved a matching contribution to match each employee’s
contributions up to a maximum of $4.000 per employee. The costs of these contributions amounted to $11.1 million.
$9.1 million and $11.8 million for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respeciively. The Company’s
matching contributions vest to the employee in increments of 25% per year beginning with the second year of
employment and ending with the fifth.

The Company also sponsors a deferred compensation plan for certain eligible employees. As of March 31, 2007
and 2006. $21.4 million and $21.8 million, respectively, is included in marketable sccurities, with a corresponding
amount included in accrued liabilities, related to obligations under this plan. Employces participating in this plan
receive distributions of their respective balances based on predetermined payout schedules or other events, as
defined by the plan.
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(11) Stockholders’ Equity
Earnings Per Share

In calculating basic earnings per share (EPS). net earnings is divided by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. For diluted EPS, the potential dilution that could occur if securities or
other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock is reflected in the weighted
average number of common shares, The treasury stock method is used whereby the outstanding stock options and
unearmed nonvested stock are considered potential common shares. For the yeurs ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005, the treasury stock method effect of 5.4 million. 13.5 million and 23.9 million weighted options, respectively,
has been excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS as it is anti-dilutive. The following table summarizes the
basic and diluted EPS computations:

Year Ended March 31
2007 2006 2005
(In millions, except
per share amounts)

Basic earnings per share:

NELCAMMINES ..ottt et $ 2159 3% 1020 % 753
Weighted average number of common shares ..o 204.2 _ 216.0 _ 222.0
Basic eamnings per Share .........c.o.ooovooeoooooooeeeeoeooeeoo $ 1063 047 % 034
Diluted carnings per share:
NELCAITHILES .-. oottt e $ 2159 8% 10208% 753
Weighted average number of common shares ... 2042 2160 2220
Incremental shares from assumed conversions of stock options and other dilutive
SECUTIHES ..ottt s e oo 6.0 29 2.0
Adjusted weighted average number of common shares..........o..oo.ooooo 210.2 _ 2189 2240
Diluted earnings per $hare ..........ccoovcooovoooiioooieoeeo e $__103% 047 $_034
Treasury Stock

The Company’s Board of Directors has authorized a $2.0 billion stock repurchase program ($500.0 million stock
in April 2000, $500.0 million in July 2002 and $1.0 billion in November 2005). During the years ended March 31,
2007. 2006 and 2005, 20.7 million, 20.5 million and 5.3 million shares. respectively, were purchased for $555.0
million, $411.0 million, and $87.0 million, respectively, under these authorizations. As of March 3 1, 2007, there was
approximately $254.5 million remaining in this stock repurchase program, which does not have an expiration date.

(12) Guarantees, Commitments and Contingencies
Guarantees

Under its standard software license agreements, the Company agrees to indenwnify, defend and hold harmless its
licensees from and against certain losses, damages and costs arising from claims alleging the licensees’ use of
Company software infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party. Also, under these standard license
agreements. the Company represents and warrants to licensees that its software products operate substantially in
accordance with published specifications. Under its standard consulting and development agreements. the Company
warranis that the services it performs will be undertaken by qualified personnel in a professional manner conforming
to generally accepted industry standards and practices. Other guarantees include promises 1o indemnify, defend and
hold harmless each of the Company’s executive officers, non-employee directors and certain key employees from
and against losses, damages and costs incurred by each such individual in administrative, legal or investigative
proceedings arising from alleged wrongdoing by the individual while acting in good faith within the scope of his or
her job duties on behaif of the Company.

Historically. the Company has not incurred significant costs related to such indemnitications, warrantics and
guarantees. As such and based on other factors, the Company does not expect to incur significant obligations and no
accruals for these items have been made.
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Lease Commitments

The Company leases oftice space and equipment under various non-cancelable operating lcases. Rent expense is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the respective lease terms and amounted to $49.9 million. $43.4 million and
$46.5 million during the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In June 2006, the Company sold its headquarters campus and three surrounding undeveloped land parcels
located in Houston. Texas for approximately $291.9 million in cash, net of closing costs. In connection with the sale
of the buildings, the Company cntered into a 15 year lease agreement for its currently occupied space with the
option to terminate the lease in nine years and options to renew for up to an additional 20 years at market rates,
Accordingly, the Company deferred and is amortizing the gain of approximately $24.2 million as a reduction to rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The net book value of assets of approximately $254.6 million of
Jand and property was removed from the balance sheet. The lease agreement includes five scheduled rent increases
over its term. Rent expense is being recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Until the lease is
terminated. should the landlord desire to sell the buildings. the Company has a right of first offer to purchase the
buildings at market rates.

Future minimum lease payments to be made under non-cancelable operating leases and minimum sublease
payments to be received under non-cancelable subleases as of March 31. 2007 are as follows, including those
amounts accrued for exited leases discussed in Note 14:

Year Ending
March 31,

(In millions)
$ 592
511
35.6
293
249
66.2
TOtAl HDIIMUIT ICASE PAYITICILS .. ioiotesceeaemasse st ems s b e eSS e 266.3

Total mMinimum SUBLEASE PAYIMCIITS .. ..cviveieearirmrrr s b e (15.1)
$ 2512

The Company has procured certain equipment under non-cancelable capital lease arrangements. The current and
long-term portions of these capital lease obligations. which are included in accrued liabilities and other Jong-term
liabilities. respectively. in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, were $5.7 million and $3.3 million,
respectively. at March 31, 2007, and $6.1 million and $9.0 million, respectively, at March 31, 2006. As of March 31.
2007. future minimum payments to be made under these capital leases include $6.2 million in the year ended March
31. 2008 and $3.4 million in the year ended March 31, 2009.

Contingencies

On March 23. 2007, the Company and NetlQ settled all previously owtstanding claims. This settlement did not
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

The Company has received claims from a third party alleging that it infringes on one or more of the third party’s
patents, The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the claims and intends to vigorously contest them.
Additionally. the Company has asserted counter claims against the third party alleging infringement on certain of the
Company’s patents. No formal proceedings have been initiated by either party and the uliimate outcome of this
matter cannot be estimated at this time.

The Company is parly to various labor claims brought by certain former international employees alleging that
amounts are due such employees for unpaid commissions and other compensation. The claims are in various stages
and are not expected to be resolved in the near future. The Company intends to vigorously contest all of the claims.
However, the ultimate outcome of all of the claims cannot be estimated at this time.
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(14) Severance, Exit Costs and Related Charges

The Company has undertaken various restructuring and process improvement initiatives in recent years to reduce
costs through the realignment of resources to focus on growth areas and simplification, standardization and
automation of key business processes. As a resull of these initiatives. the Company involuntarily terminated
approximately 700 and 800 employees during the years ended March 31, 2006 and 2004, respectively, and identified
for termination approximately 700 employces during the year ended March 31, 2007, These workforce reductions
arc across all functions and geographies and affected employees were, or will be, provided cash separation packages.
The workforce reductions have reduced rescarch and development, selling. and general and administrative cxpenses
in product arcas that were not achieving the Company's profitability and growth goals. Additionally, the Compuny
exited leases in certain locations, reduced the square footage required to operate some locations and relocated some
operations 1o lower cost facilities during these periods. As of March 31. 2007. $33.3 million of severance and
facilities costs related to actions completed under these initiatives remains acerued for payments in future periods, as
follows:

Cash
Payments,
Balance at Foreign Net of Balance at
March 31, Adjustments Charged Exchange Sublease March 31,
2004 to Estimates to Expense  _Accretion _Adjustments Income 2005

tIn millions)
Severance and related

COSES oot $ 39 $ (0.1 5 — 5 — $ 0.2 $ 29 % 1.1
Facilities costs oo, 64.7 3.4 — 1.8 0.2 (23.2) 40.1
Total acerued o.............. $_68.6 $ (3.5) $ - $ L8 $ 04 $_(26.1)  $.412
Cash
Payments,
Balance at Foreign Net of Balance at
March 31,  Adjustments Charged Exchange Sublease March 31,
2008 to Estimates to Expense  _Accretion  _Adjustments Income 2006
(In millions)
Severance and related
COSES oeviiiiiiiiine e $ 1 $ (1.2) $ 426 5§ — $ (0.2) $ 419 $5 04
Facilities costs ... 40.1 (1.7) 0.5 1.4 (0.1) (i4.5) 2517
Total accrued ................ $ 41.2 $§ (2.9) 5 431 514 $_(0.3) $ 564y § 26.1
Cash
Payments,
Balance at Foreign Net of Balance at
March 31,  Adjustments Charged Exchange Sublease March 3,
2006 to Estimates to Expense _ _Accretion  _Adjustments Income 2007
(In millions)
Severance and related

COSES .o, $ 04 $ 0.1 $ 438 $ - $ 03 $276) $ 170
Facilities Costs ... 25.7 0.4 ).3 0.9 — (11.0y 16.3
Total accrued ................ $_26.1 $ 0.5 $.441  § 0.9 $.0.3 $.(38.6) $.333

The accruals for severance and related costs at March 31. 2007 primarily represent the amounts to be paid to
employees that have been terminated or identified for termination as a result of initiatives described above. These
amounts are expected to be paid within fiscal 2008. The Company continues to review the impact of these actions
and will, based on future results of operations, determine if additional actions 1o reduce operating expenses are
necessary. The total amount of any potential future charges for such actions will depend upon the nature. timing, and
extent of those actions.
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The accruals for facilities costs at March 31, 2007 represent the remaining fair value of lease obligations for
exited locations, as determined at the cease-use dates of those facilities, net of estimated sublease income that could
be reasonably obtained in the future, and will be paid out over the remaining lease terms, the last of which ends in
fiscal 2011, Projected sublease income is based on management’s estimates, which are subject to change. The
Company may incur additional facilities charges subsequent to March 31, 2007 as a result of its current initiatives
described above. Accretion (the increase in the present value of facilities accruals over time) is included in the
Company’s operating expenses.

(15) Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal 2007 and 2006. This
information has been prepared on the same basis as the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and all
necessary adjustments have been included in the amounts below to present fairly the selected quarterly information
when read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto.

Quarters Ended
June 30, Sept.30, Dec.31, Mar.31, June30, Sept.30, Dec.3l, Mar 3,
2006 2006 2006 2007 2005 2005 2005 2006
(In millions, except per share data)

Total TEVETUE ....oeeeeeeimeeemeee e $ 3614 $ 3867 $ 4129 % 4194 $ 3483 § 361.8 § 3804 § 4079
Gross profit.....meen $ 2744 $ 2015 % 3176 $ 3266 § 2508 $ 2661 § 2833 % 3114
Operating income {1088)........c....... $ 191 % 596 % 739 % 547 $ (229) § 403 § 525 % 386
Net earnings (1088)......cocevevveencncs $_31.0 % 582 % 639 % 628 $ 411y § 428 $_ 487 $§ 516
Basic EPS e, $ 015 $ 029 $_.031 % 031 § (019 § 020 $_023 § 024
Diluted EPS ... $ 015 % 028 $ 030 %0303 (019 § 019 5 022 § 0.24
Shares used in computing basic
EPS e __207.5 _203.8 203.7 202,01 __2196 __217.6 215.1 _ 212.1
Shares used in computing diluted
EPS ..ot 2112 _ 2090 _ 2101 208.2 2196 _ 2208 _ 2179 _ 2162

As discussed in Note 14, the Company incurred severance, ¢xit costs and related charges during the years ended
March 31, 2007 and 2006. Included in the quarters ended June 30, 2006, September 30, 2006, December 31, 2006
and March 31, 2007 are charges of $25.8 million, $0.6 million, $4.4 million, and $13.8 million, respectively, and
included in the quarters ended June 30, 2005, September 30, 2005, and December 31, 2005 are charges of $43.1
million, $(1.6) million and $(0.5) million respectively.

During fiscal 2007, certain reclassifications were made within operating expenses between costs of maintenance
revenue and research and development expenses. These reclassifications result in a different gross profit than
initially reported as follows:

Quarters Ended

June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2006 2006 2006
(In millions, except per share data)
Gross profit as initially TEported ... ... $ 2672 3 2864 $ 3144
RECIASSIICAIONS - .ot e et et e st e e s e e s srrre e s arneeeens 7.2 5.1 32
GEOSS PIOFIL.o.v.iviieieriisiccecerececerereecenes st es s m s 3. 2744 3 2915 3 3176

{16) Subsequent Event

On May 28, 2007, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of ProactiveNet, knc. (ProactiveNet), a provider of business service management solutions, for $40.5
million in cash. The transaction is subject to approval by ProactiveNet stockholders and customary closing
conditions. This acquisition is expected to advance BMC’s delivery of Business Service Management with new
analytics and event management capabilities that deliver value across a broad range of third-party performance and
event management solutions,
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By: fs/ Robert E. Beauchamp

Robert E. Beauchamp
President. Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Signatures Title Date
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B. Garland Cupp
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and Director
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Jon E. Barfield
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Melden K. Gafner
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P. Thomas Jenking
fsf KATHLEEN A. O'NEIL Director May 30. 2007
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{s/ GEORGE F. RAYMOND Director May 30. 2007
George F. Raymond
/s/ TOM C. TINSLEY Director May 30, 2007

Tom C. Tinsley

75




ARNY {0 E

St KT H K S VIHH
The Company's stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbaol BMC.
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Derrick Vializ, VP Investor Relations
darrick_vializ@bme.com

Cantact us at: 713.918.4525 or 800.841.2031

Email: investor@bme.com

Recent financial filings are available on the Company's

Web site at www.bme.com/investors
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Visit: www.bmc.com
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The annual stockholders meeting will be held on
August 21, 2007, beginning at 10:00 a.m. local time, in
the Maverick Room at The Hyatt Regency DFW,
International Parkway, DFW Airport, Texas.
Stackhotders of record as of July 6, 2007,

shall be entitled to vote.

S B W BRSHIE
As of July 6, 2007, there were approximately 1,297

record holders of the Company’s common stock and

approxtmately 59,348 stockholders.
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BMC Software, Inc.

2101 CityWest Blvd.

Houston, TX 77042-2827

Phone: 713.918.8800 or 800.841.2031

e an
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
P. 0. Box 43078
Providence, Rl 02940-3078
hitp:/www.computershare.com
Phone: §77.282.1168
Fax: §17.360.6900
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Robert E. Beauchamp and Stephen B. Solcher have provided
certifications to the securities and exchange commission as
required by section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
These certifications are included as exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 of

the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2007.

PN B4 Y PO AE] R KU

A PRI | BN

On September 12, 2006, Robert E. Beauchamp submitted his
annual certification to the NYSE that stated he was not aware of
any violation by the company of the NYSE corporate gavernance

listing standards.
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